EFFECTS OF DOMESTIC AND WILD HERBIVORE UTILISATION ON HERBACEOUS LAYER ABOVEGROUND PRIMARY PRODUCTION IN CENTRAL KENYA SAVANNA

By Silvanos George Otieno B.Sc. Range Management (Hons, Nbl)

RAIROBI UNIVERSITY



A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF RANGE MANAGEMENT, FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE, UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI, IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR MASTER OF SCIENCE DEGREE IN RANGE MANAGEMENT (ECOLOGY OPTION) MARCH 2005

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for award of degree in any other university

Silvanos George Otieno

Maral 2005 Date

SUPERVISORS

This thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as the university supervisors

2nd March, 2005

Dr. Jease Theuri Njoka Department of Range Management (UoN)

Date

3rd March, 2005

Prof. Truman Post Young Da Department of Environmental Horticulture (UC DAVIS)

Dr. Robinson Kinutnia Ngugi Department of Range Management (UoN)

4th March, 2005

Date

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to the memory of Jonathan Burchell and Ian Ross who cherished and appreciated the complexity and functions of Laikipla savanna. We met during the time of my research and maintained close triendship until the time of the fateful plane crash. May their genuine friendship, understanding, simplicity and toxe for natural savannas live in many hearts forever.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I thank Prof Truman Young of the University of California-Davis U.S.A., not only for providing research support, but also for entrusting me with the responsibility of managing his KLEE projects throughout my period of field study. The freedom and independence he accorded me has been the hub around which the success of this study revolved. Additionally, I appreciate his availability as my supervisor and the guidance he provided.

Likewse, I am more than grateful to my University supervisors Drs. Jesse Theuri Njoka and Robinson Kinuthia Ngugi. Their sustained guidance and positive criticisms of various drafts tremendously improved this thesis. Dr. Njoka also played a key role in exposing me to research work in his projects prior to the beginning of this study, for this I am forever grateful Many thanks, to the chairman Department of Range Management and all his academic members of staff for the direction they provided during the various departmental seminars

The administrators and staff at Mpala Research Centre-Nanyuki deserve recognition in this work-Dr. Nicholas Georgiadis the centre director, Kerry Outrum the administrator, Nasser Olwero the GIS specialist and Mordecal Ogada the resident scientist. They made my stay reasonably relaxed at the centre, in addition to providing necessary academic and scientific materials, which I dearly needed for the success of this research work. In the field, Patrick Aikilong', Fredrick Erii and John Lichukiya gave more than enough help for this study. The long hours we spent together in the field collecting invaluable data not only guaranteed success but also dependable data and consequent excellent results displayed in this study. I will forever be grateful

I am equally grateful to my wife Seline, son Ronnie and daughter Antonnette for their sacrifice, extraordinary understanding and psychological support they provided during the study period.

. .

Lalso thank my mends and relatives who stood by me before, during and after this study Bell Okello, Peter Olewe, Peter Kamande, Christopher Odhiambo, Collins Ouma, Charles Warui, Harrison Ikunga, Jordan Lewis, Ilya, Dan Rubenstein, Ryan Sensenig, Andrew Stein, Kathleen Melinda, Lawrence Franck, Roste Woodroffe, Felicia Keesing, Rick Karban, Mikaela Huntzinger and everybody else. My close interaction with you contributed something to this study

Above all, I acknowledge and thank the Almighty God for strength and guidance throughout the period of research and write-up

ABSTRACT

This study investigated the separate and combined influences of livestock and wild herbivores on herbaceous layer primary production in central Kenya rangelands. The treatments included cattle (C), wild herbivores (with- [MW] and without- [W] mega herbivores), combined cattle and wild herbivores (with- [MWC] and without- [WC] mega herbivores) and control (O), which excluded all large herbivores. Each treatment occupying four-hectare pasture plot was replicated in three blocks and has been operational since 1995. Standing biomass, primary productivity, aboveground litter and herbage utilisation in each treatment pasture were measured six times between August 2002-May 2003 using movable cage method.

The results show that standing biomass was higher in the growing (wet) than in dry season and differed significantly (p<0.05) among the treatments. For the two seasons, treatment W had the highest biomass, while treatments C and WC had the lowest. In the wet season, treatments W and MW had significantly higher (p<0.05) biomass than the other treatments, while in the dry season, treatments C and WC had significantly lower biomass than the other four treatments. Treatment MWC that combined mega herbivores, other large wild herbivores and cattle sustained intermediate standing biomass. In the wet season, the highest and lowest net primary productivity averaged 2.7±0.8 gm⁻² and 1.3±0.8 gm⁻² per day in W and MW treatments respectively. Net primary productivity declined with increased amount of aboveground litter and stronger correlation was observed in O ($R^2=0.71$, p<0.01), but significantly explained 47% of the variations observed in standing biomass in pastures utilised by large herbivores.

The proportion of standing biomass contributed by perennial grasses was maximum in grazed treatments while that of forbs peaked in O. Pennisetum mezianum and Themeda triandra had lowest proportions in O and highest in the grazed treatments. Aboveground littler was higher in the dry than in the wet season in all treatments, but highest in O in both seasons. In the growing season, as high as 75% and as low as 25% of the season's aboveground net primary production was utilised in MW and W respectively, while in the dry season utilisation of primary production continued at a daily rate of 1.7 gm² and 1.3 gm² respectively in these treatments. The tussock utilisation was greatest in all treatments that accommodated cattle and most minimum in W.

-121

Different groups of large herbivores exhibit different levels of utilisation that differently affects herbaceous layer standing biomass, aboveground litter and proportions of forage classes. Seasonally, cattle alone have relatively greater reductive capacity on herbaceous layer standing biomass than either wild herbivores alone or combinations of cattle and wild herbivores. Long term exclusion of large herbivores and fire from grazed pastures encourages accumulation of litter which negatively correlate with net primary productivity, such exclusions result in declined vigour of some perennial graminoid plants species such as *Pennisetum stramineum* and *Themeda triandra* but increases domination of dicotyledonous forbs. Combination of cattle and wild herbivores appear to be superior management approach in unprotected grazing lands as it maintained intermediate standing biomass and productivity hence providing a viable management option in conflict prone savanna grasslands.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	
DEDICATION	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	
ABSTRACT	iv second vi
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF PLATES	
CHAPTER ONE	or 1
1.0 Introduction.	1
1.1 Justification	
1.2 Study objectives	4
	5
CHAPTER TWO	
2 0 Literature Review	
2.1 Net prediction	6
2.2 Effects of grazing on vegetation biomase	10
2.3 Interactive relationships among harbivores	Interior II
2.4 Effects of herbivores on plants their role in compensatory growth	H
CHAPTER THREE	
3 0 Materials and Methods	
3.1 Site description	
3.2 Experimental layout and treatmenta	
3.3 Determination of aboveground standing biomass, productivity and herbags utilisation	
3.3 1 Herbwore dung piles	25
3 3.2 Tussock utilisation	
3.4 Data analysis	
CHAPTER FOUR	
4 0 Results and Discussion	17
4.1 Seasonal aboveground standing bromass	
4 2 Herbaceous layer aboveground nel primary productivity (ANPP) (gm ²)	
4.3 Relative proportions of forbs and grasses in standing biomesa by treatments	
4 4 Aboveground litter	
4.5 Utilisation by large herbivores	
5 0 Conclusions and Recommandations	
5.1 Conclusions	
5.2 Recommendations	
REFERENCES	53

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Study samples size
Table 4.1 Mean seasonal standing biomass (gm-2) by treatments 27
Table 4.2 Relative herbivore activity within treatments based on fresh dung deposits28
Table 4.3 Mean percent ($\pm se$) seasonal proportions of grasses, forbs and other herbaceous
layer plant species classes in each treatment
Table 4.4 Relative seasonal proportions (%±se) of key perennial grasses in standing biomass
in different treatments
Table 4.5 Monthly mean standing biomass (gm ²) for forbs, individual dominant perennial grass
species, annual grasses and sedges by treatments
Table 4.6 Seasonal mean aboveground littler contents (±se) by treatments 43
Table 4.7 Mean daily herbage biomass utilisation (+se gm ² day ¹) by large herbivores in
different treatments and season
Table 4.8 Mean total number of grazed tussocks (m ²), mean tussock height and mean tussock
stubble height in different treatments
Table 4.9 Relative proportions (%) of tussocks of key perannial grasses utilised in each
trealment
Table 4.10 The mean ungrazed heights and respective stubble heights (cm) of key perennial
grasses in each treatment

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1 Geographic Location of Mpala conservancy in Laikipla District
Figure 3.2 Map of Mpala Research Centre Showing Study Sites (Courtesy of T.P. Young)18
Figure 3.3 Design of the experimental layout
Figure 4.1 Mean aboveground net primary production measured over a period of 133 days in
the growing period
Figure 4.2 ANPP in grazed treatments after subtracting ANPP in the ungrazed control (O) for
total herbage ANPP (a) and forage class ANPP (b)
Figure 4 3a-d Relationships between standing biomass (APP) and monthly productivity in
pastures utilised by a) Cattle and wild herbivores b) cattle c) ungrazed d) Wild herbivores
Figure 4 4 Raintall and herbage aboveground standing biomase in separate cattle and wild
herbivore treatments41
Figure 4.5 Rainfall and aboveground standing biomass in joint cattle and wild herbivores
treatment and in non-grazed treatment
Figure 4.6 a-d Effects of aboveground litter on herbaceous layer primary productivity in
unublised pastures (control) (a), and pastures utilised by cattle (b), wild herbivores with
mega herbivores (c) and wild herbivores without mega herbivores (d)
Figure 4.7 Relationship between proportions of tussocks utilised by large herbivores and
standing biomass in grazed pastures

LIST OF PLATES

Plate	1. Complementary interaction between browser giraffes (Giraffe camelopardalis, a strict
	browser) and zebras (Equus burchelli a grazer) observed in Mpala Ranch Laikipla12
Plate	2. Competitive interaction between zebras (Equus burchelli) and warthogs
	(Phacochoerus aethiopicus), both grazers in a Laikipia glade
Plate	3. Cattle treatment in the exclosures twenty-one days into the growing (we) season $\dots 21$
Plate	4. Yearlings leaving electrified cattle exclosure through a gate
Plate	5 Scientist relocating cage position within a pasture treatment
Plate	6 Movable cage on a sampling site
Piale	7. Elephant track made in the wet season is persisting as bare ground in the dry season
	In MW treatment southern block

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ASALS	Arid and Semi Arid Lands		
с	Cattle		
MW	Mega herbivores and other large wild mammalian herbivores		
MWC	Mega herbivores, other large wild mammalian herbivores and cattle		
0	Total large herbivore exclusion		
w	Other large wild mammakan herbivores		
WC	Other large wild mammalian herbivores and cattle		

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 introduction

Rangelands cover approximately 51% (6.7 billion ha) of earth's land surface and support different vegetation types such as deserts, chaparrais, grasslands, steppes, and woodlands (Heady and Child, 1994). As sub-sets of rangelands, and and semi-arid lands (ASALs) cover approximately 12.4 million square kilometres in Africa, or about 50% of the tropical zone (Darkoh, 1992) In Kenya, ASALs constitute four-fifths of the country's total land surface, host over 25% of the total human population, slightly more than half of the livestock population (Kariuki et al. 1996), and are home to the majority of large mammal wildlife species

ASALs have been and continue to be used by domestic and wild herbivores, either separately or jointly. Domestic stock, which comprises cattle, sheep, goats, donkeys and camels, continues to increase rapidly as human population increases (Gichohi *et al.* 1996) Though the effects of livestock on savanna habitats are often profound depending on numbers of animals involved, intensity of vegetation off-take, movement patterns, urination and defecation (Gichohi *et al.* 1996), their coexistence with wild herbivores has been proposed to be more feasible under ranching and pastoral managements, than with cuttivation agriculture (Pratt and Gwynne, 1977; Swift *et al.* 1996; Bourn and Blench, 1999). This is because there exist large complementarities in feeding among large herbivores; between grazers and browsers, and course feeders and fine feeders. Cattle commonly convert long grass to short grass, which is subsequently used by other stock such as sheep, goats and juvenile stock (Gichohi *et al.* 1996).

Wildlife populations of the African savannas remained relatively intact during the Pleistocene period when most similar large mammals became extinct on other continents. Nonetheless,

other pressures have recently come to bear on these populations, reducing them to small remnants of more impressive herds that existed several decades ago. The moist savanna ecosystems, which constitute areas of higher agricultural potential, have been settled and the dry semi-arid zones where much of wildlife now occurs are currently under similar threats Habitat fragmentation and changes induced by the (removal of) traditional human activities also continue to affect the savanna's wildlife populations (Gichohl et al. 1996). It is therefore becoming more important to understand the coexistence of wildlife with enterprises that are favoured by humans. One such enterprise is cattle production. Cattle production is a major domestic livestock enterprise in Kenya and elsewhere in the world, with various ecological, cutural, traditional and commercial purposes that could combine better with wildlife management. It is known that species of livestock, the intensity of grazing, climate and edaphic factors influence plant species composition, below and aboveground biomass and productivity of pasture of the common grazing lands (Woldu and Saleem, 2000). Generally, grazing directly affects vegetation by reducing its height, phytomass, density and botanical composition in any particular area (Whyte and Cain, 1981). But little is known of the effects of separate and combined cattle and wild herbivores on production of the vegetation resource. Therefore, a study investigating existence of complementary and supplementary effects of groups of herbivores could be beneficial for sustainable management of rangelands.

Vegetation productivity (the rate of biomass accumulation in plant tissues) and utilisation of accumulated biomass by herbivores are two critical factors determining the type and number of animals that can occupy an area within an ecosystem at any particular time. These also determine the vegetation structure and floristic composition. They provide important parameters to range or wildlife managers, and scientists with interest in forage quality, production and use. Proper use of primary production ensures quality secondary ecosystem.

productivity and influences production goals, management strategies and kinds of land use in an area.

1.1 Justification

Wildlife management and conservation is facing crisis Protected areas alone set out for conservation cannot guard against large-scale species extinction, ecological disruption and biological impovertelyment within the next fifty years (Western, 1996). This is because vital parts of these conservation units are external to the protected area boundaries, which cannot be brought to new protection without problems. This is presenting concerns regarding wildlife and livestock compatibility. In Kenya, all wildlife cannot fit in the 10% protected land set apart for conservation, consequently wildlife often occur in unprotected properties where they inevitably interact with livestock. Proposals regarding profitability of wildlife management in unprotected areas have been presented by a number of authors including Hopcraft (1990) and Kreuter and Workman (1994).

Recent research suggest that wildlife possess the capability of providing additional revenue on rangelands, either due to its tourism attraction or game ranching potentials. On the other hand, cattle and other domestic livestock have traditionally been considered economically viable by herders and ranchers. This suggests that a mixed strategy of wildlife and livestock with suitable management may be economically optimal and could facilitate maintenance of desirable degree of blodiversity (Hopcraft, 1990, Famsworth *et al.* 2002) even in unprotected areas. Despite this potential, little is known of the distinctive effects imparted by separate and combined livestock and wildlife on common rangeland natural resources. This gap reveals the need for comprehensive understanding of the multi-consumer effects on the resource that supports wildlife and livestock. Equally, for better management strategies of the savanna.

herbaceous layer, more information is required on separate and combined effects of livestock and wild-herbivores

The findings of this study will be invaluable to conservation scientists, grassland managers and conservation agents who are concerned with the equilibrium, productivity and interactions of plants and animal species in these ecosystems. The information is further useful for the long-term sustainable conservation of biodiversity that the future well being of the tourism and livestock industries securely depends on in Kenya and elsewhere in the African continent

1.2 Study objectives

The overall objective of this study was to evaluate separate and combined effects after eight years of range utilisation by cattle and large wild herbivores on herbaceous layer production, litter accumulation and relative proportions of grasses and forbs

The specific objectives of this study were to determine

- Effects of long-term rangeland utilisation by cattle (C), large wild herbivores (with [MW] and without (W) mega herbivores) and combinations of cattle and wild herbivores (with [MWC] and without [WC] mega herbivores) on seasonal herbaceous layer standing blomass, primary productivity and litter accumulation
- 2 Effects of cattle (C), large wild herbivores (W and MW) and their combinations (WC and MWC) on relative proportions of grasses and forbs in standing biomass.
- Levels of herbaceous layer tussock and biomass utilisation by cattle (C), large wild herbivores (W and MW) and their combinations (WC and MWC)

1.3 Hypothesis

The essential hypotheses are that

- Long-term rangeland utilisations by cattle, large wild herbivores or combined cattle and wild herbivores have no measurable effects on seasonal standing biomass and litter amounts in pestures
- Proportions of grasses and forbs in pasture are independent of whether long-term pasture utilisation is by cattle, wild herbivores or joint wild herbivores and cattle
- Levels of tussock and herbage ublisation are independent of groups of large herbivores present in the pastures

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 Literature Review

2.1 Net primary production

Net primary production (NPP) is the total amount of organic matter assimilated by plants less that lost due to respiration (Lieth and Whittaker, 1975, Begon et al. 1990, Roberts et al. 1993; Gichohi et al. 1996, Molles, 1999). It includes both below (roots, rhizomes, corme, tubers and bulbs) and aboveground (stems, branches, leaves, flowers and fruits) phytomass and has been estimated at ecosystem level in a number of studies. Root biomass alone has been reported to account for 50-80% of annual primary production (Chapin III *et al.* 1987). A number of studies (Strugneti and Pigot 1978, Owaga 1980, Macharia 1981, Clary and Jameson 1981, Sala *et al.* 1981, Deshmukh and Baig 1983, Deshmukh 1988; Kinyamario 1987; Cox and Waithaka 1989; Kinyamario and Macharia 1992, Okelto 1996) have estimated aboveground component of NPP while Ekaya *et al.* (2001) estimated total net primary production in ungrazed arid and semi arid lands (ASALs) in Kenya. Other studies Bouton *et al.* (1988) have studied biomass dynamics in protected and semi-protected areas in Kenya while Harcombe *et al.* (1993) studied aboveground net primary productivity in Texas prairies of U.S.A.

The aboveground net primary production (ANPP) is a fraction of net primary production (NPP), either biomass or total energy that is incorporated into the aerial parts (leaf, stem, seed and associated shoot organs) of the plant community. It is the most important parameter of most in an eccelystem where large vertebrates are the principal herbivores (Milner and Hughes, 1970)

ANPP has been measured in different sites of the world by different authorities using different methods. Sala et al. (1981) estimated ANPP in Argentina grasslands by assessing differences in to successive harvests measured within the calendar year in ungrazed area where livestock

had been excluded for four years McNaughton (1979a, 1979b, 1985) using movable cages in Seranget grasslands and Mordelet and Menaut (1995) in humid savanna of West Alrica estimated ANPP by summing only positive biomass increments, but with caution for possible ANPP overestimation (Sala *et al.* 1988; McNaughton *et al.* 1996) in North American grasslands, ANPP has been measured in grazed and ungrazed sites (Sims *et al.* 1978; Sims and Singh 1978a, 1978b), and on shallow, rocky, deep, non rocky (upland and lowland) soils on both burned and unburned watersheds of the prairies of U.S.A. (Abrams *et al.* 1988). Elsewhere in Venezueta ANPP has been estimated in burned, unburned and in irrigated sites (San Jose and Medina 1976)

Effects of rainfall amount, rainfall distribution and grazing intensity have also been examined on the net primary production in dry tropical savanna (Pandey and Singh, 1992) Light and moderate grazing have been reported to stimulate increases in aboveground net primary production. Significant reductions in below ground net primary production with profound effects. being noted at higher grazing intensities have also been reported (Pandey and Singh 1992) Similarly, higher aboveground biomass has been observed in ungrazed than in grazed grassiands (Sima et al. 1978), but seasonal live biomass has been observed to be similar in grazed and ungrazed sites (Sims and Singh 1978a) Significant differences have been observed in aboveground primary productivity and reported to be higher in ungrazed than in grazed grasslands (Sims and Singh, 1978b) Live biomass on the other hand has been shown. to be greater in burned than in unburned sites and the proportions of forbs and woody plants. reported to be 200-300% higher in the former than in the latter when burned annually (Abrams et al 1986) In East African ecosystems, aboveground primary production has been reported to be higher under tree canopies than in the open grasslands (Betsky et al. 1989, Kinyua 1996; Okelia 1996). However, contradicting results documenting high production in the open (out side

canopy) have been found elsewhere in humid savanna of West Africa (Mordelet and Menaut, 1995)

Functional groups contributing to total aboveground net primary production or standing biomass have also attracted considerable investigation in different parts of the world. In coastal plain pinetand of Florida, Ball et al. (1981) found grasses to be the most productive functional group recording highest (2190 kg/ha) plant biomass. In the same site forbs production was 334 kg/ha. while sedges production declined from 117 kg/ha in the second year to less than 0.42 kg/ha in the tenth year when disturbance was excluded from the site. Litter accounted for greatest amount of biomass-it increased from 3605 kg/ha in the second year to over 8000 kg/ha in the fith year on the siles excluding grazing or burning. In Texas prairies, Harcombe et al. (1993) recorted high live grass biomass, forbs and sedges in unburned relative to burned areas and trund grasses to comprise 70-80% of the total peak biomass. In East African ecosystems, Bouton et al (1988) reported that dead standing biomass and litter components had higher biomass proportion than live components and always comprised 50% during the long rains and 94% during the dry seasons in Nairobi National Park. They further reported that more than 90% of the herb layer biomass were contributed by grasses, when forbs and sedges accounting for less than 10% in the same park, Kinyamano and Macharia (1992) reported Themeda triandra as the most productive grass species contributing 42% of the total standing biomass, P mezienum 28%, dicots 17% and other grasses combined contributed only 13%

Resource partitioning and herbivores coexistence

Generally, aboveground net primary production is food for grazers like zebras (Equus burchelli and Equus gravy), hartebeests (Alcalaphus buselaphus) and wildebeests (Connochaeles taurinus), browsers like giraffes (Giraffa camelopardahs), dik-diks (Madoqua saltiana, Rhynchotragus lurkit and R. guenthen) and black rhinoceroses (Diceros bicornis and Ceratothenum simum) or mixed feeders like Grant's gazelles (Gazella grant), oryx (Oryx gazella) and elephants (Loxodonta africana) Virtually all grasslands are grazed by more than one species of herbivore and a large number of these consumers depend on grass resource for food (Farnsworth et al 2002) They consume a good proportion of annual net primary production. For instance, McNaughton (1985) reported that between 15-90% of annual net primary production is consumed by large herbivores. Components of aboveground primary production that drop on the ground form litter and humus- food for microfauna such as termites and decomposers (detritivores).

Most field studies on sympatric ungulates have concentrated on assessing the degree of niche separation and identification of the most relevant differences in resource use among the studied species. On the other hand, theoretical studies suggest that species with completely overlapping niches cannot coexist, because if they do, all but one of them are eventually doorned to extinction (Famsworth et al. 2002) The diversity and abundance of herbivores in East African savanna can be explained, to a large extent, by resource partitioning, high primary production and evolutionary history (Voetin and Prins, 1999) The patients of resource pertitioning have been well described for different assemblages of herbivore species and such information may be used to explain how species coexist despite extensive ecological overlap However, for purposes of managing multipurpose rangelands, resource parbtioning and use as exhibited by domestic and wild herbivores would be more informative. Voetin and Prins (1999) demonstrated that resource use by cattle overlapped with that of zebra and widebeest in the wet season, while that of wildebeest and zebra did not overlap except when resources were in high supply Different species or groups of wild herbivores appear to have exhibited coexisience with each other for millennia, such that overlaps at the time of resource abundance are considered non-competitive. Groups of wild herbivores and herds of cattle may coexist

especially in unprotected areas because of differences in feeding habits, (Werger, 1977), but more data are needed in this area for better understanding of their separate and combined effects on resources that support their coexistence

2.2 Effects of grazing on vegetation biomass

Resource competition, herbivory and predation all have roles in ecosystem productivity Herbivory (grazing) on plants and competition among plants independently reduce biomass and flowening of target plants (Rene Van der Wal *et al.* 2000). When plants are protected from herbivory for a long period, competition among them is increased, however, their persistence in the short term is determined by grazing.

Herbivores affect plants directly when they remove biomass (Pratt and Gwynne 1977; Painter and Delling 1981, Whyte and Cain 1981, Rene Van Der Wal 2000) and have myriad indirect effects on plants. They modify resource availability: enhance light penetration through the canopy (Rene Van Der Wal 2000) as they graze differentially on neighbourng plants (Belsky 1986, 1987; Belsky et al. 1993; Rene Van Der Wal 2000). This suggests that short-term exclusion of direct herbivore attack on plants always leads to increased plant biomass. On the other hand, total exclusion of herbivores can result in reduced incremental biomass of older plants (Rene Van Der Wal, 2000). This shows that grazing and long-term competition among plants (herbivore exclusion) negatively affects total plant biomass in an ecosystem

In most cases, herbivory removes less than 10% of the annual aboveground net primary production, but sometimes up to 50% (Painter and Detling, 1981), 85% standing crop (McNaughton 1976), 15-90% (McNaughton, 1985) or more of the annual aboveground production in the grasslands may be used up by herbivores. In such cases, the effect of short

penod herbivore exclusion may result in rapid increase of cover and biomass yield of formariy grazed plants

In the short run, grazing exclusion can significantly influence species composition and growth forms of plants. According to Sala *et al.* (1986) this results in higher basal area cover in ungrazed sites than in grazed grassland communities, but the former maintains lower floral diversity than in the latter Under grazed unlike ungrazed conditions biomass may be negatively correlated to species diversity (Rusch and Oesterheld, 1997). Hence herbivory may reduce the effects of competitive exclusion of plant species from an ecosystem.

Sala et al (1986) suggested that periodic disturbance on sites such as those caused by herbivory allows for coexistence of higher diversity of vegetation species. This implies that quality of vegetation in grazed conditions is likely to be higher than in ungrazed conditions since most plants are constantly in a growing and greening up mode, subject to favourable environmental conditions. It is apparent that grazed systems are ecologically distinct from ungrazed ones, but for the purposes of prudent management, it is to the benefit of managers to ascertain effects when different kinds or groups of herbivores utilise rangelands.

2.3 Interactive relationships among herbivores

Interactions between livestock and wildlife in African ecosystems are often thought to be negative (Young et al. 1998) due to limited resources that are common and needed by both However, among the herbivores, one consumer may increase accessibility to food for another when a common resource is partitioned (Farnsworth et al. 2002) Among the wild ungulates, inter-species interactions can be competitive, synergistic or complementary (Kinyua and Njoka 2001). In Serenget (like in other East African ecosystems) considerable overlap on resource use has been observed and reported, thus ecological separation is largely due to differences in

11

herbivore feeding behaviour. For instance, grazing succession begins with larger species such as buffaloes (Syncerus califer) and zebras (Equus burchelli) followed by topi (Damaliscus Junatus) and wildebeest (Connochaetes taurinus), and then Thomson's gazelles (Gazella thomson) (Maddock, 1979). This is probably so because most of the time larger herbivore species are bulk feeders hence prepare the pastures for fine feeders. Among the domestic stock, presence of one species may increase the performance of another, for example cattle increased the performance of sheep (Morns et al. 1999). Kinyua and Njoka (2001) presented logistic interaction models for Grant's gazelle (Gazelle granti), Thomson gazelle (Gazella thomsoni), giraffe (Giraffa camelopardalis), zebra (Equus burchelli). Oryx (Oryz gazelle), Kongoni (Alcelaphus buselaphus) and impala (Aepyceros melampus)



Plate 1. Complementary Interaction between browser girafles (Girafia camelopardalis, a strict browser) and zebras (Equus burchelli a grazer) observed in Mpata Ranch Laikipia



Plate 2. Competitive interaction between zebras (Equus burchell) and warthogs (Phacochoerus aethlopicus), both grazers in a Lakupia glade

These models explored competitive (Plate 2), complementary (Plate 1) and synergistic relationships among these herbivores. Competitive relationships were found between Thomson gazelles and zebras and between oryx and Grant's gazelles. Complementary interactions were found between Thomson gazelle and cattle, Grant's gazelle with girafles and impalas, and zebra and oryx. Other complementary relationships were found among Oryx, hartebeest (kongoni) and wildebeest and finally between the hartebaest and Grant's gazelle. In general these models suggest that, mixed feeders such as Grant's gazelle, impala and oryx remained complementary to obligate browsers such as girafles or grazers such as zebras (see Plate 1).

The models indicate the complexity that exists among wild ungulates. They also show that greater diversity of ungulates in grazed systems may be to the advantage of ecosystem utilisation. These results form the basis for coexistence of domestic and wild herbivores as the complementary and supplementary effects may be exploited to counter competitive effects.

2.4 Effects of herbivores on plants: their role in compensatory growth

Herbivores are an integral component of grasslands and their effects at the ecosystem level may include nutrient transformation and translocation, nutrient flow rates, and nutrient availability due to plant responses to grazing and nitrogen. Grazing can influence soil nitrogen mineralisation, facilitate rapid substrate decomposition and increase rate of nitrogen recycling as a result of dung and urine deposition (Shariff et al. 1994). Cattle have in the past attracted a number of research discussions and investigations of its effects on rangeland resources. At the ecosystem level, cattle increase nutrient flow, forage quality (Phillips et al. 1999) reduce branch length, aboveground biomass and height of individual plant species (Maschinski, 2001). (arguing the rest of the state increase and height of individual plant species (Maschinski, 2001).

(Kauffman et al. 1983a) and retard community succession (Kauffman et al. 1983b).

A number of field experimental results (McNaughton 1979a; 1983; Cargill and Jefferies 1984; Georgiadis et al. 1989; Hik and Jefferies 1990) and model simulations (Hilbert et al. 1981; Dyer et al. 1986; de Mozancourt et al. 1998; Leriche et al. 2001) suggest that net primary production (NPP) could be maintained (compensatory) or stimulated (over-compensatory) in response to herbivory or clipping to mimic herbivory. But Belsky (1986, 1987) and Belsky et al. (1993) have raised serious concerns on the ecological significance and general application of these results with significant questions about the experimental designs, methodologies in data collection, and semantics. Perhaps due to conflicting results, Crawley (1987) maintained indecision in his conclusion by upholding that both McNaughton and Belsky are right since the bottom line of

this debate is yet to be unveiled

14



Plate 2. Competitive interaction between zebras (Equus burchelli) and warthogs (Phacochoerus aethiopicus), both grazers in a Laikipia glade

These models explored competitive (Plate 2), complementary (Plate 1) and synergistic relationships among these herbivores. Competitive relationships were found between Thomson gazelles and zebras; and between oryx and Grant's gazelles. Complementary interactions were found between Thomson gazelle and cattle; Grant's gazelle with giraffes and impalas; and zebra and oryx. Other complementary relationships were found among Oryx, hartebeest (kongoni) and wildebeest and finally between the hartebeest and Grant's gazelle. In general these models suggest that, mixed feeders such as Grant's gazelle, impala and oryx remained complementary to obligate browsers such as giraffes or grazers such as zebras (see Plate 1).

The models indicate the complexity that exists among wild ungulates. They also show that greater diversity of ungulates in grazed systems may be to the advantage of ecosystem utilisation. These results form the basis for coexistence of domestic and wild herbivores as the complementary and supplementary effects may be exploited to counter competitive effects.



NI IN ISA

13

Grazing affects the form and stature of plants. In general, the patiern of response by plants to herbivory depends on the vegetation type, prevailing environmental conditions, temporal and spatial scales of grazing (Brown and Allen 1989; Holtand et al. 1992; Biondini et al. 1998). Belisky (1992) found higher cover values among short-statured grass species in grazed blocks while tall grass species dominated ungrazed blocks. An exception was Themeda triandra, which had almost disappeared from the ungrazed block. The effect of grazing on plants largely depends on the space and time scales considered in the short term (within a growing season), response of net primary production (NPP) to grazing is determined by complex interactions arrong various factors such as light availability, water stress, nutrient recycling, biomass allocation to shoots and roots, and photosynthetic rates of specific plants (Lenche et al. 2001). Herbivory effects on available phytomass and primary productivity per unit area determine its moacts in the long-term scales on the entire range (Weber and Jeltsch, 2000). Quantification of these effects needs to consider what is consumed and to what extent. Previous tests of the overcompensation hypothesis for aboveground or total NPP have found significant overcompensation (McNaughton 1979b; Cargill and Jefferies 1984; Georgiadis et al. 1989), compensation (Beaulieu et al. 1996) or under compensation (Rusch and Oesterheid 1997; Maschinski 2001)

In simulated resource availability, Leriche et al (2001) reported weak over-compensatory growth under herbivory within restricted conditions of resource availability. On the other hand, Biondini et al. (1996) found no consistent effects of eight-year cattle grazing on aboveground net primary production. In a short period of observation, Maschinski (2001) and Puetimann and Saundars (2001) reported that plants do not fully compensate for lost biomass fost due to grazing within one growing season. However, different levels of herbivory manifest stimulation on vertical height growth, diameter growth and total biomass of the plant (Puetimann and

Seunders, 2001). On the other hand, cattle and wild ungutates affect plant height, total branch length, mean plant biomass and cause plant mortality on rare willows (Maschinski, 2001). The magnitude of the impact however, vanes with types, numbers and kinds of herbivores present, the amount of time plants are exposed to herbivory, and the amount of recovery time

The toregoing literature review provides general information on interactions between herbivores and vegetation. It is apparent that the livestock - wild herbivores - vegetation interactions are complex and present challenges to grassiand management and operations. Aboveground primary production is continually being removed by herbivores as plant grows, but effects of such removal need better understanding in order to generate even more appropriate grassland management programmes. Upon this premise, this study was undertaken

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 Materials and Methods

3.1 Site description

The study was conducted at the Mpala Research Centre (MRC) located 40 kilometros northwest of Nanyuki town in Laikipia district, Rift Valley province, Kenya. The centre is situated on longitude 36° 54' 0'E and labitude 0° 17' 24'N (Figures 3.1 and 3.2) in the Ewaso Nyiro North ecosystem at 1800m above sea level.



Figure 3.1 Geographic Location of Mpala conservancy in Laikipia District



Figure 3.2 Map of Mpala Research Centre Showing Study Sites (Courtesy of T.P. Young)

Low and vanable rainfall averaging 500mm in the North and 650mm in the South charactenzes the area. The rainfall has a weakly trimodal distribution with peaks in April, July and November (Young et al. 1998). The rainfall is usually low between December and February Maximum temperatures range from 25°C to 30°C while minimums range from 12°C to 17°C (Young et al. 1998). The solis are deep clay black cotion solis (vertisols), which cover about 43% of Laiklpia district (Young et al. 1998). These solis are low in vegetation diversity, high in large herbivore diversity and support some of the most productive rangelands in East Africa (Young et al. 1998). Other soil types as reviewed in Young et al. (1995) include well drained, moderately deep to very deep, dark reddish brown, fnable, gravely, sandy clay loam to clay loam. The overstorey vegetation is dominated by Acacia drepanoloblum Harms. Other woody species include Cadabe farinosa Forssk, Batanites aegyptiace (L.) Del., Rhus natalensis Krauss, and Acacia meltifiera (Vahil) Benth. Dominant grasses are Lintonia nutans Stapf, Brachiarle lachnantha (Hochst.) Stapf, Themeda triandra Forssk, Pennisetum mezianum Leeke, and P

stramineum Peter. The dominant forbs include Aerva tanata (L.) Jusa and Commelina spp. (Young et al 1998)

3.2 Experimental layout and treatments

in September 1995, the Kenya Long-term Exclosures Experiment (KLEE) project started longterm herbryore exclosure pastures at the Mpala Research Centre. The experiment was organized in a stratified block design with six treatments cattle (C), wild herbivores-with (MW) and without [W] mega herbivores, combined cattle and wild herbivores- with [MWC] and without (WC) mega herbivores and, ungrazed control (O), which excluded all large herbivores in the pastures Each treatment was replicated three times along North-South gradient for a total of eighteen pastures of 4 hectares each (Figure 3.3 below). Mega-herbivores (M) in this study reter to elephants (Loxodonta africana) and giraffes (Giraffa camelopardatis). Wild herbivores (W) refer to large mammalian wild herbivores smaller than the mega herbivores that included rebres (Equus burchelli and Equus grevy), buffalo (Syncerus caller), eland (Taurotragus oryx). Beisa onyx (Oryx gazella), hartebeest (Alcelaphus bucelaphus) and Grant's gazelle (Gazella grant) The experiment used wildlife and mega herbivores fence while cattle barriers in partures dedicated for wild herbroores alone were visual (Young et al. (1998). The study evaluated treatment effects after eight years in a black-cotton-soil savanna ecosystem. The treatments represented diverse land use and management strategies practiced in most and and semi and lands in Kenya and elsewhere in African continent.



Figure 3.3 Design of the experimental layout



Plate 3. Cattle treatment in the exclosures twenty-one days into the growing (wet) season



First & Yearlings leaving electrified cattle exclosure through a gate

3.3 Determination of aboveground standing biomass, productivity and herbage

utilisation

During the study period (August 2002-May 2003), six cattle runs' each having an average of 120 heads of cattle, utilised MWC. WC and C treatment pastures; as has been the case for most of the time since September 1995. In each run' a herd of cattle (plates 3 and 4) grazed for an average of two hours to provide moderate utilisation levels equivalent to those being practiced in the entire Mpala ranch. Sampling (clipping) dates were synchronized such that cattle runs' always preceded clipping activities to provide closest utilisation estimates.

Aboveground net primary production, productivity and litter amounts were estimated using movable cage (exclosure) method in each of the eighteen 4 ha KLEE pasture plots (illustrated in Plates 5 and 6). The cages whose metal-bar frames were covered with chicken wire of 2.5cm mesh internally measured 1meter by 1meter by 1meter. These cages were set randomly in Steatment pastures as recommended by Klingman et al. (1943) and moved in pasture plots as recommended by Klingman et al. (1943) and moved in pasture plots as recommended by Klingman et al. (1943) and moved in pasture plots as recommended by Klingman et al. (1943) and moved in pasture plots as

Sampling was done in wet and dry seasons. A total of six sampling dates (sessions) were undertaken at bimonthly intervals. Four dates were in the wet and two in the dry season (Table 3.1) because herbaceous layer changes in the wet season are more dynamic hence more sampling frequency. At each sampling date, five 1m² cage plots and un-caged counterparts were selected randomly in each of the 4 ha treatment pasture. Ideally total number of samples would be 540 cages, but due to randomisation some cages sampled the glade areas, which have different vegetation and productivity characteristics, and as such they were excluded from the analysis. This resulted to a final study sample of 495 cages (Table 3.1). All the herbage biomass in each of these plots was clipped to the ground level and mulch (litter) removed.

Differences obtained by subtracting herbage biomass in grazed (uncaged) from those in caged plot herbage biomass provided amounts utilised by large herbivores over the period of observation (Klingman et al. 1943; McNaughton et al. 1996)

Table 3.1 Study samples store Treatment	Dry season # of 1 M ²	file season	Total # of (1 MP)
Dis Laterary	29	57	86
Mana hasherman & Wild herbecorts	30	52	82
Necessary Win berbyones and Cattle	30	54	84
Nacional Andrews and Califa	29	56	87
	29	52	81
	30	45	75
Totals	177	318	495



Plate 5. Scientist relocating cage position within a peeture treatment

Increments in production (productivity) were estimated in the wet (growing) season by comparing caged herbage (Plate 6) with herbage initially observed in reference 1 m² plot (McNaughton et al. 1996). Differences from all five sampling points per treatment pasture were included imagective of whether negative or positive (McNaughton et al. 1996) and mean of these represented productivity for the sampling date. Mean productivity from various sampling dates were summed together to form aboveground net primary production (ANPP) over the
effective study period. The mean ANPP for the treatment was calculated by considering ANPP from different blocks namely North. Central and South (Figure 3.3) in which the treatment was represented. Mean daily aboveground net primary productivity (mass area⁻¹ time⁻¹) for each treatment was calculated by dividing ANPP (change in biomass) by the number of days in the affective study period (Williamson et al. 1989). Effective study period in the growing season refers to the mean total number of days in which movable cages remained in the field. Seasonal standing biomass was estimated by the average dry plant material biomass harvested inside the cage in different sampling dates within the season.



Plate 4. Movable cage on a sampling site

The standing biomass captured both primer and regrowth biomass, and excluded large herbivores from grazing during the period when cage was in place. The proportion of perennial grasses, forbs and individual grasses was calculated from their relative contribution to the lotal standing biomass in the caged plot.

Each grass species present in the plot was clipped and packaged in specific paper bag. Paper bag details included individual grass species, herbivore treatment, sampling station location or co-ordinales, plot status (other reference, caged or grazed) and date. The other harvested functional groups were placed into specific paper bag (e.g. all forbs or all collected litter were put into own separate paper bags at the time of harvesting). These were dired to a constant weight at internal (within the bag) temperatures ranging between 50°C to 80°C and external (outside the bag) temperatures ranging from 125°C to 135°C in a forced draught oven for 24 linkes before weighing (8 hours drying per day for three consecutive days). The temperatures were measured using the thermometers, which were placed, inside the paper bag together with maternal and in the inter-tways space but within the forced draught oven.

3.3.1 Herbivore dung piles

Data on treshly deposited dung ples were collected from two 200m/4m transects totalling 1600m per herbivore treatment. Transects stretched to a full treatment length on a North-South gradient. They were 100m apart but approximately 50m from eastern and western sides (ends) of the treatment plots. The freshly deposited dung piles on these transects were recorded by herbivore species. This provided indications for kinds, or groups of herbivores present and utilising the pastures plots as treatment. According to Rene Van der Wal et al (2010) utilities them (computation) can be estimated using dung counts.

3.3.2 Tussock utilisation

to determine horbwore preference and grazing intensities on individual grass species in different herbwore treatments, grass tussocks were surveyed. A total of 240 1m² quadrats were assessed (10 plots per treatment). Sixteen pluts were sampled from each treatment in the northern and southern block and eight other plots were from the central block. This was done once to further provide evidence for large herbivore utilisation. The characteristics recorded tussocks in quadrat, total grazed tussocks and grass species heights (stubble ungrazed). The individual grass species heights were summed and averaged to provide evidence to provide evidence to provide the species heights were summed and averaged to provide ungrazed.

15

herbaceous layer height in different treatments. Relative proportions (%) of tussocks ublised provided herbivore preferences to grass species while mean stubble height of grass species determined grazing intensity

3.4 Data analysis

Data on seasonal primary production, aboveground Litter and herbage utilisation were first summarised before subjecting normally distributed data sets to analysis of variance. Resulta were considered significantly different when P<0.05. Significant mean differences were separated using Tukey Honest Significant Differences (HSD) at P<0.05. Data on productivity, standing bromass, litter, utilisation, tussocks and stubble biomass were subjected to correlation and regression analysis.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 Results and Discussion

4 1 Seasonal aboveground standing biomass

Table 4.1 represents mean aboveground standing biomass for all treatments during both seasons. Only treatments WC and W were significantly different in terms of standing biomass between well and dry season. For the two seasons, treatment W had relatively higher biomass, while treatments C and WC had lower. In the well season, treatments W and MW had significantly higher (p<0.05) biomass than the other treatments, while in the dry season, treatments C and WC had significantly lower biomass than the other four treatments.

INDIA A A MARGIN RAMANA PA	antered fragmen fint 1-1	
Transment	Wel season	Dry season
C	324 91 18 9"	291 9+20 1 **
WC	342 9+15 9+1	283 4+16 9*
NAME	348 8+ 16.1 =	314 0+17.9**
W	441 1±16 8 ¹¹	377.8±23.1 M
MW	375.01.16.4 **	358 4 (22, 7 %
0	366.6118.5 **	323 01 20 7*
and the second se	control of Armont of Hard Longers residence and other	the little works were sensed as a reserve to be

table 4.1 Mean seesonal standing biomass (gm⁻¹) by treatments

Results of this study show that pastures utilised by cattle alone have relatively lower herbaceous layer standing biomass, while those utilised by wild herbivores without the mega herbivores have higher irrespective of the season. The intermediate standing biomass obtained in this study in pastures utilised by both cattle and wild herbivores suggest that the two can coexist in a common range at the current level of stocking. This coexistance hinges on the supplementary or complementary effects of different herbivore species on each other's niche (Kinyua and Njoka, 2001). Therefore, with respect to herbaceous layer resources, it seems that in pastures already occupied by cattle, introduction of other mammalian wild herbivores might have a complementary effect. This could provide a viable solution to the crisis facing conservation in the unprotected lands. The standing biomass in pastures utilised by both cattle herbivore species are at minimum impect.

density to avoid direct competition with domestic animals or that the level of cattle grazing and impacts of rotational grazing within the seasons could also have affected the interactive effects observed with wild herbivores. Other explanation to this could on the basis of grazing succession patterns. At the end of a wet season, Maddock (1979) observed that Thomson's gazelle occupied parts of plains previously used by zebras and wildebeests. McNaughton (1976) reported grazing succession of zebra followed by wildebeest and then by Thomson's gazelle. In the present study, it is thought that after cattle have utilised pastures, wild herbivores of aquivalent or higher body mass such as elephants and giraffes, utilised those pastures alone. This could be due to the large herbivore's tendency to utilise certain herbage heights (Farnsworth ef al. 2002) and may probably be suggesting that cattle may not facilitate for herbaceous layer utilisation for mega wild herbivores, even though they may do so for wild herbivores with body mass less than their own.

Evidence based on relative number of fresh dung piles of different herbivores within the various treatment pastures, reveal that elephant activity in MW treatment was twice as much as in MWC and zebras activity was also relatively higher in treatments that excluded cattle (Table 4.2)

comme a X scenative pass	bivore activity	within treatmen	its based o	n hesh dung	deposits.

Sec.	Calle	Bulley.	-	Employees	States	Elind	Citard a	(etca	Огия	Linterimenti	married.	Max
C	65.3										14.7	2
WC		81.2	-			1.8	65	59	18	12	18	đ
MINT C		72.2	-	4.3	1.1	0 A	68	93	0.0	3.1	3.1	7
MPA:			66		1	33	22 0	27.5	5.5	66	28 6	6
Relative in	divity a c		_78	0.0	29	13.3	9.5	43.8	29	48	6.7	7

the provide the second second second burg plot per total treph plat surplud

gazelle and steenbok activity was relatively higher in W than in any other treatment e and dung could not be distinguished especially in WC and MWC treatment were reteranced together. Girafle appeared to avoid pastures with callle presence (MWC) despite the fact that the former is obligate browser and the latter almost obligate grazer in general most large mammakan wild trarbivores reduced their presence in pastures with cattle presence, this could have contributed to intermediate herbaceous layer standing biomass observed in pastures combining cattle and wild herbivores. Hence large and extensive pastures need to be planned in such a way that they accommodate areas for wild herbivores alone in addition to combinations of domestic and wild herbivores.

The essential null hypothesis was that long-term rangeland utilisations by cattle, large wild herbivores or combined cattle and wild herbivores had no measurable effects on seasonal herbaceous layer standing biomass and littler amounts in pastures. In the light of results and the foregoing discussion, this study fails to accept this hypothesis and infer that separate and combined cattle and wild herbivores utilisation have effects on seasonal standing biomass.

4.2 Herbaceous layer aboveground net primary productivity (ANPP) (gm³)

Figure 4.1 presents mean aboveground net primary production by treatments measured in the growing season. These represented mean daily aboveground net primary productivity of 2.5 ± 0.2 gm², 1.9 ± 0.4 gm², 2.0 ± 0.4 , 2.7 ± 0.8 gm², 1.3 ± 0.8 gm² and 1.9 ± 0.1 gm² per day in beatments C, WC, MWC, W, MW and O respectively. Results show that all grazed treatments except MW exhibited higher mean ANPP than the control (O) (Figure 4.2a).

Treatments C and W had the highest ANPP, and MW had the lowest As shown in the (Figure 4.1), standing biomass in treatment utilised by cattle alone was minimum relative to other treatments (Table 4.1), however productivity was high. This could be attributed to the fact that plants incapable of compensating for all their grazed biomass within a growing season (Meechinski, 2011, Puettmann and Saunders, 2001). Also the fact that cattle grazing results in lower stubble height (Maschinski, 2001) means low available standing biomass.

Results of this study are consistent with experimental studies in Canada (Cargill and Jeffries, 1984; Hilk and Jeffries, 1990) and in East Africa region (McNaughton, 1979a, 1979b, 1985), which have shown evidence that herbivory could maintain (compensate) or increase (overcompensate) aboveground net primary production above the controls (Figure 4.2a). Although the increased plant growth and reproduction that occasionally follow grazing can be interpreted in terms of overcompensation, Belsky et al. (1993) argues that a simpler explanation is that they demonstrate vigorous regrowth by damaged plants and that regrowth is a generalized response by plants to all types of damage not just an adaptation to herbivory.







Figure 4.2 ANPP in grazed treatments after subtracting ANPP in the ungrazed control (O) for total herbage ANPP (a) and forage class ANPP (b)

Compensatory growth data has been subjected to theoretical methematical models and has been shown to be plausible when herbivore utilisation affacts the rate of recycling limiting nutrient (Dyer *et al.* 1986), relative growth rate of plants during certain period of growth (Hilbert *et al.* 1981), cause loss of limiting nutrient (de Mozacourt *et al.* 1998) or restricts the availability of resources required by growing plants (Lenche *et al.* 2001). However, work done by Rusch and Osterheld (1997) in Argentina reported under-compensation. From the results of the present study, it can be inferred that there is under-compensation in MW and overcompensation in treatments W, C, MWC and WC. Treatments W and C can further be inferred to have strongly overcompensated ANPP with highest standing biomass in grazed pastures and *it* represented the grazing intensity at which overcompensation was maximised. Treatment C strongly overcompensated with least standing biomass. Treatments MWC and WC weakly overcompensated while maintaining intermediate amounts of standing biomass. Conversely, MW strongly under-compensated while maintaining second highest standing biomass.

Most pasture treatments utilised by different kinds or groups of large mammalian herbivores. maintained herbage ANPP above the ungrazed control (Figure 4.2a). This is probably due to the rankness of herbaceous plants and increased litter accumulation in the control treatment Hilbert et al. (1981) concluded that there exist complex relationship between relative growth rates and production following grazing by different herbivores. This complex relationship could be a reason for the herbaceous layer productivity patterns observed in the present study freatments with high standing biomass such as MW gave lowest ANPP, those with lowest standing biomass such as C having high ANPP, and yet others such as W sustaining both highest standing biomass and ANPP. A number of mechanisms may account for increase in primary productivity following grazing. These include increased photosynthetic rates in tissues. remaining after grazing (Painter and Detling, 1981), high proportion of stored carbohydrate being mubilized to the grazed parts for production of new leaf area, increased tillering (Hilbert et al. 1981) or opening up of the canopies and increasing light penetration, conservation of soil moisture by reduced transpirational toat area and other indirect mechanisms (McNaughton 1979a)

Different locage classes grasses, forbs and individual locage plant species respond differently to grazing flins they make different contributions to total herbage ANPP. In the present study grasses overcompensated ANPP in all grazed treatments while forbs under-compensated (Figure 4.2b). Bolsky (1966, 1987) and Belsky *et al.* (1993) question the validity of the overcomprimeatory liteory and casts doubts as to whether compensatory gain is of any relevance to grassland managers. Current results further casts doubts whether it is ecologically proper to partition. ANPP according to respective forage functional groups present in pastures when comparing long term grazed and ungrazed pastures. However, regardless of what one calls increased plant growth following grazing, management decisions should be based on standing biomass, which is the component that is usually available to grazing animala. If is also appropriate to understand the age of the sward before grazing since age of the residual teaf area has an influence on the photosynthetic efficiency and hence the regrowth rate

Presence of mega herbivores resulted in decline in herbaceous layer aboveground productivity especially in pastures separately utilised by wild herbivores. The highest productivity was recorded in W treatment that excluded mega herbivores, while the least was observed in MW, where mega herbivores were present. Although pastures utilised by cittle alone consistently. exhibited the least standing biomass, they maintained high productivity rates (ANPP), successing that they could reduce the nugative effects of mega herbivores on herbaceous layer productivity thus MW had significantly lower productivity than MWC. Though information on the direct effects of trampling on herbaceous layer productivity is scanty (Rusch and Osterheld (1997), the strong negative effects of moga herbivores on the herbaceous tayer productivity observed in this study could be attributed to complete physical destruction of herbaceous layer plants through hool action resulting in bare ground pockets as is clearly visible in Plate 7. Those effects are probably reduced by cattle, which often visit MWC in both dry and wet seasons hence increasing herbaceous layer productivity. The hoof actions of cattle result in pitting-like effects on bare compacted ground, this probably may have favourable conditions for herbaceous plant species seed recruitment, growth and productivity and hence recovery from trampling effects.



Plate 7. Elephant track made in the wet season is persisting as bare ground in the dry season in MW treatment southern block

4.2.1 Relationships between standing biomass and monthly herbaceous

layer productivity

For all grazed treatments, monthly herbaceous layer productivity significantly (F_{I1, 49}=38.3, p=0.0001) accounted for 47% of the vanations observed in standing biomass in the growing season. Figure 4.3a-d presents linear regression analysis of standing biomass as a function of herbaceous layer monthly productivity. These regression results reveal that there was high correlation between standing biomass and herbaceous layer monthly productivity in grazed than in the ungrazed pastures. In all treatments, initial standing biomass at the beginning of the growing season is marked by the Y-intercept. The monthly productivity explained 74%, 62%, 56% and 26% of the variations observed in the standing biomass in pastures utilised by cattle, combined cattle and wild herbivores, wild herbivores and ungrazed control respectively.



Figure 4.3a-d Relationships between standing biomass (APP) and monthly productivity in pantaren utilised by a) Cattle and wild herbivores b) cattle c) ungrazed d) Wild herbivores

These regression results demonstrate that in pastures dominated by perennial grasses, the lower the standing biomass at the beginning of the growing season, the higher the impact of the herbaceous layer productivity on the end of season production. From these regression results, it is suggested that herbaceous layer productivity builds up standing biomass faster in pastures dominated by perennial grasses where standing biomass at the beginning of the growing season ranges 150 - 200 gm². Heitschmidt et al. (1982) noted that reduction of standing crop biomass accelerates vegetation growth and increases aboveground production under moist environmental conditions. Gutman et al. (1999) concluded that with grazing deferment during the growing season, herbage production could be maintained at normal levels even under heavy grazing pressure during the subsequent grazing season.

RABETE LIUNAN

under favourable soil moisture conditions, forage plants are capable of maintaining production even after a substantial proportion of their phytomass has been removed. While the preceding discussion underscores the importance of herbage productivity in the growing season, the data of this study showed that the amount of biomass consumed by large herbivores in the growing season provide weaker explanation to the variations observed in standing biomass (13% (F₁₁ s_{01} =9 1, p=0 0038). This shows that during the growing period, the negative effects of herbivory on standing biomass are ameliorated by plant productivity.

4.3 Relative proportions of forbs and grasses in standing biomass by treatments

Table 4.3 presents the relative proportions of grasses, forbs and other herbaceous layer plant species categories in each treatment. Perennial grasses comprised the most important forage class in grazed pastures while forbs importance increased in ungrazed pastures. The relative proportions of forbs increased to 25.6% and 28.2% (Table 4.3) in the wet and in life dry season, respectively over the eight years of large herbivores exclusion (1995-2002). The proportions of key porennial grasses remained lower in ungrazed pastures than those recorded in the grazed treatment. This suggests that forbs probably out compete grasses in pastures. devoid of large herbivores. Although large herbivores reduce phytomass of grass plants through consumption, their dung and unine deposits influence nutrient transformation, translocation, flow rates and nutrient availability due to feedbacks, litereby prompting positive plant responses to grazing and nitrogen additions. Large herbivores may also influence nitrogen mineralisation, facilitate rapid substrate decomposition and increase the rate of nitrogen recycling (Shariff et al 1994). On the other hand, these herbivores may also mechanically disperse seeds and reduce the sizes of competing plants (Belsky, 1986). Grasses appear to be the primary beneficiaries of a number of livese aspects as their productivity is promoted under grazing conditions. Consequently, the proportions of the dominant perennial grasses remained higher in all grazed treatments than in the ungrazed (Table 4.3). On the other hand, torbs are suppressed by grazing. Combined use by cattle and wild herbivores further appear to suppress torbs (Table 4.3). In all the treatments, annual grasses and sedges contributed higher blomass during the wet than the dry season. The proportion of sedges was least in the control treatment than in any of the grazed treatments. This is consistent with the results of Ball *et al.* (1981) who observed their value to have reduced to less than 0.42 kg/ha in the tenth year in ungrazed-unburned pastures. In most savarina ecosystems, grasses have been reported to be the most productive herbaceous layer functional group (Ball *et al.* 1981, Bouton *et al.* 1988, Harcombe *et al.* 1993) while forbs and sedges have been found to contribute only slightly to the herbage structure and function (Ball *et al.* 1981, Harcombe *et al.*

1993)

Table 4.3 Mean percent (ane) seasonal proportions of grasses, forbs and other herbecoous layer plant epecies classes in each treatment

Dammeri	Create in a real			Other per	ennial				
grayner"		Forbe		grasses"		Annual grasses		Sedge	
WH	Dry	Wei	Dry	Wei	Dry	Wel	Dry	Wet	Dry
76 813.7	63 9+2 3	164138	13 5+2 3	3 812 1	20116	1 3:0 4	01101	17+11	0 4±0 1
84 712 1	82 0 1 1	87113	76(10	38118	79140	2 2+0 5	2.112.1	0.8+2	0 4+0 3
85 5+1 0	85 711 0	85(10	8 3:1 0	31(08	5.4+1.6	1 519.4	0 410 2	1 4±0 5	0.310 1
61 B+2 3	83 8+1 8	12 8+2 2	10.911.5	3 9±1 1	50-28	0 610 2	0 2:0 1	11107	0 3±0 I
81 5+1 2	85411.5	98+12	10.7±1.5	5.8+1.9	3 6±1 2	0610.2	0 1±0 1	0.4±0.2	0.210 D
68 2+4 1	687138	75 6+4 1	28 213 8	51+20	2 5:0 9	0 7+0 3	0 4:0 3	0.3+0.1	0 2+0 1
	Daminari Wei 76 8-3.7 84 712 1 85 5+1 0 81 8+2 3 82 5+1 2 68 2+4 1	Dominant primerial Wei Dry 76 010.7 63 972 3 84 712 1 82 011 1 85 910 85 7110 85 7110 81 81 83 81 6 81 81 2 3 83 81 6 85 11 6 65 71 1 8 71 8 <t< td=""><td>Dominant primerial Forbs Weit Dry Weit 76.813.7 63.972.3 16.413.8 84.712.1 82.011.1 8.711.3 85.510 85.711.0 8.511.0 81.912.3 83.811.6 12.612.2 82.512 85.411.6 9.811.2 68.741 A8.713.8 25.641.1</td><td>Dominant primerual Forba Weil Dry Weil Dry 76 8/3.7 63 972 3 16 4/3 8 13 5/2 3 84 712 1 82 0/1 1 8 7/1 3 7 6/1 0 85 5/1 0 85 7/1 0 4 5/1 3 7 6/1 0 81 8/2 3 83 8/1 6 12 8/2 7 10 9/1 5 82 5/1 2 85 4/1 6 9 8/1 2 10 7/1 5 68 7/4 1 A8 7/3 8 75 6/4 1 28 2/3 6</td><td>Dominant permissial Other per Forbe grasses** Weit Day Weit Day Weit 76.813.7 83.912.3 18.413.8 13.512.3 3.812.1 84.212.1 82.011.1 8.711.3 7.611.0 3.8116 85.511.0 85.711.0 8.511.0 8.311.0 3.108.8 81.812.3 83.811.6 12.612.2 10.911.5 3.921.1 82.512.2 85.411.5 9.811.2 10.721.5 5.641.9 68.214.1 18.713.8 75.614.1 28.213.6 5.112.0</td><td>Dominant personal Forbs grisses** Wet Dry Wei Dry Wei Dry 76.813.7 63.972.3 18.413.8 13.552.3 28.21 2.011.6 84.712.1 82.011.1 8.711.3 7.611.0 3.811.6 7.914.0 85.51.0 85.711.0 8.511.0 8.311.0 3.140.8 5.411.6 81.812.3 83.811.6 12.612.2 10.911.5 3.921.1 5.012.6 82.511.2 85.411.6 9.811.2 10.721.5 5.611.9 3.621.2 68.2541.1 A8.713.8 25.644.1 28.213.6 5.142.0 2.520.9</td><td>Dominant personal Other personal Forbe grisses" Annual gr Weit Dry Dry<</td><td>Dominant personal Forba grasses** Annual grasses Weit Dry Utry Weit Dry Weit Dry Utry Weit Dry Utry Visit Dry Utry Visit Dry Utry Visit Dry Vi</td><td>Other prevented Other prevented Forbe grasses** Annual grasses Sedge Weit Day Sedge Sedge</td></t<>	Dominant primerial Forbs Weit Dry Weit 76.813.7 63.972.3 16.413.8 84.712.1 82.011.1 8.711.3 85.510 85.711.0 8.511.0 81.912.3 83.811.6 12.612.2 82.512 85.411.6 9.811.2 68.741 A8.713.8 25.641.1	Dominant primerual Forba Weil Dry Weil Dry 76 8/3.7 63 972 3 16 4/3 8 13 5/2 3 84 712 1 82 0/1 1 8 7/1 3 7 6/1 0 85 5/1 0 85 7/1 0 4 5/1 3 7 6/1 0 81 8/2 3 83 8/1 6 12 8/2 7 10 9/1 5 82 5/1 2 85 4/1 6 9 8/1 2 10 7/1 5 68 7/4 1 A8 7/3 8 75 6/4 1 28 2/3 6	Dominant permissial Other per Forbe grasses** Weit Day Weit Day Weit 76.813.7 83.912.3 18.413.8 13.512.3 3.812.1 84.212.1 82.011.1 8.711.3 7.611.0 3.8116 85.511.0 85.711.0 8.511.0 8.311.0 3.108.8 81.812.3 83.811.6 12.612.2 10.911.5 3.921.1 82.512.2 85.411.5 9.811.2 10.721.5 5.641.9 68.214.1 18.713.8 75.614.1 28.213.6 5.112.0	Dominant personal Forbs grisses** Wet Dry Wei Dry Wei Dry 76.813.7 63.972.3 18.413.8 13.552.3 28.21 2.011.6 84.712.1 82.011.1 8.711.3 7.611.0 3.811.6 7.914.0 85.51.0 85.711.0 8.511.0 8.311.0 3.140.8 5.411.6 81.812.3 83.811.6 12.612.2 10.911.5 3.921.1 5.012.6 82.511.2 85.411.6 9.811.2 10.721.5 5.611.9 3.621.2 68.2541.1 A8.713.8 25.644.1 28.213.6 5.142.0 2.520.9	Dominant personal Other personal Forbe grisses" Annual gr Weit Dry Dry<	Dominant personal Forba grasses** Annual grasses Weit Dry Utry Weit Dry Weit Dry Utry Weit Dry Utry Visit Dry Utry Visit Dry Utry Visit Dry Vi	Other prevented Other prevented Forbe grasses** Annual grasses Sedge Weit Day Sedge

" Other so more periodial grasses conduced

The effects of mega herbivores such as elephants on vegetation have mainly been associated with the overstorey plant species, – specifically trees and shrubs (Dublin 1995, Sinclair 1995), but marginally with herbaceous layer species. Comparing the proportions of forbs in W and MW, it is apparent that presence of mega herbivores (elephants and girafles) in pastures utilised by wild herbivores alone over a period of eight years suppressed the proportion of forbs (Table 4.3). In both wet and dry season, treatments utilised by combined wild herbivores and cattle (WC and MWC) registered slightly higher proportions of dominant perennial grasses than those found in treatments separately utilised by either cattle or wild herbivores. This trend, however, was not observed in forbs (Table 4.3).

4.3.1 Effects of large herblyores on the dynamics of key grass species.

Extending the herbivore optimisation hypothesis to individual grass species. Hendrix and Trapp (1989) reported failure of compensatory responses to offset reductorith in maternal fitness of the damaged plants of the species *Pastinace sativa*. Hik and Jeffries (1990) reported higher ANPP and biomass in the grazed than the ungrazed swards of *Puccinetilla phryganodes*. In the present study, a total of eleven porennial grasses, several annual grasses and sedges were identified on the study site.

Table 4.4 Relative seasonal proportions (%1.5.0) of key personnial grasses in standing biometa in different treatments.

Treatment	Permanlum shara mum		Brachsana Jachnaniha		Pennisetum meziemum		Themada Transfe	l n	interna utans	
	Will	Dig	Viter	Dry	Wet	Dry	Wel	Dy	Wet	Dig
С	22 0+6 1	38 519 2	191144	20 814 9	18 213 6	14.594 7	13 523 8	16130	3 0z1,1	57+14
WC	35214.0	31 745 2	20.413.8	141130	11 0:3 3	17 013 3	10 412 3	12.923.4	6 312 9	6 5:1 5
MMC	31 0+8 6	33 014 6	16 8+4 8	17,713.2	21 8+5 3	15 353 4	11 d±3 1	14.812.5	4 511 1	4 940 8
WV .	25 615 6	29 6+5 1	27 914 6	19 814 8	13 813 1	12 012 7	112(24	17 914 7	36(11	4 311 1
MW	217+51	17.514.2	28.644.3	27.013.0	17 214 0	20 3+3 8	13 524 0	12 913 2	4 5+1 1	67415
0	23.525.3	22 014 4	22 015 5	21 514 7	11 614 8	11 813.4	2 514 9	92+40	3.6±1.6	4 1±1.1

The perennial grasses included Pennisetum strammeum, Bracharta lachnantha, Pennisetum mezionum, Themeda triandra, Lintonia rutans, Buthnochloa insculpta, Eragrostis teruifolia, Digitaria milanjiana, Setaria spp and Cynodon spp The annual grass species were Michrochlua kunttiki, Brachlaria orucifornis, Aristida kinensis, and Dinebra retrollexa. Five of the perennial grasses (Pennisetum stramineum, Brachlaria lachnantha, Pennisetum mezianum, Themeda triumfin and Lintonia nutans) contributed more 70% of the seasonal standing biomass in all the pastures. Pennisetum stramineum was the most dominant during both seasons in C, WC, MWC and O treatments, while Brachlaria lachnantha was the most dominant in W and MW. Pennisetum mezianum maintained third rank in most treatments (Table 4.4) while Themeda triandra was fourth in most treatment except in treatment W during the dry season where it occupied the third rank to Brachlaria lachnantha in the sub-dominant The proportions of Thomeda triandra and Pennisetum mezianum greatly declined to miniacule. proportions in the ungrazed pastures implying that they succumbed to competition from forbs. This also suggests that exclusion of large herbivores and hence the nutrients they add on pastures have direct contribution to the reduced vitality of these perennial grasses. Comparisons of grazed treatments and ungrazed treatment show that proportions of *Pennisetum strammeum* were relatively higher in all grazed treatments except in C and MW in the wet season. Brachuaria lachmantha was relatively higher in grazed treatments except in C, WC and MWC in wet season.

Comparisons of W and MW revealed that presence of mega herbivores reduced proportions of Pennisetum strammeum, but increased those of Pennisotum mezienum and Lintonia nutans in both wet and dry seasons (Table 4.4). The Table 4.5 presents monthly standing biomass dynamics for forbs, dominant perennial grasses and other herbaceous plant categories in each treatment while figures 4.4 and 4.5 present monthly herbage standing biomass recorded between August 2002 and April 2003.

As the second hypothesis of this study states, proportions of grasses and forba in pasture are independent of whether long-term pasture utilisation is by cattle, wild herbivores or joint wild herbivores and cattle. However, as indicated by the results and the foregoing discussion, this study fails to accept the hypothesis and infer that presence of wild herbivores or cattle. In pastures other separately or in combination affects the proportions of grasses and forbs. This is an indication that the relative proportions of functional forage classes (grasses, forba) or even of the individual plant species largely depend on the kinds of herbivores accessing the pastures over a period of time. This is in agreement with suggestions from several previous studies that herbivores may act as ecosystem regulators by modifying productivity and community structure (Chew, 1974).

Lable 4.5 Monibly m	nen standing big	mess iom ^p	for forbs, in	dividual dom	inant cerennial	grass species.
I MARINE OL 2 MARINE MARINE MARINE	paga gumbang de	mente (Brei -	FOT POPULA, NY		and a beam of	Ander operation
ennusi giseses ano	and an of the set		Ct		D	Eab

	Mund.	Construction of the second sec	HEDR-	Dec or		
	Sept 02	Oct 02	Ther 02	Jan 03	Mar 03	May 01
	-0.00	12.40		40.44	20.12	60.10
orbs	-10 90	40 40	1010	30.44	10.10	128.12
	100.43	81 78	111 03	00 46	an 44	175.46
		44 43	10.86	CC BB	10 10	98 31
WARDERING IN A MARKEN	21.00	63.68	40.01	40.04	20.43	74.92
	14.03	14 14	13.33	40.01	24 82	75.81
nignet rularit	14 03	10.35	19 22	2 20	21 64	0.71
that Perenal grasses	11 70	10 10	0.00	2.30	0.10	3.84
Anual grasses	0.30	0 20	6 00	0.40	0.10	
edgas	S III	070	1 1 1	1 1214	1.14	10 1 2
		20.44	20.24	20.00	15.07	12.04
2d m	23 48	20 08	20.31	36 36	13 97	4.20.41
enveseturn eremmeum	136 03	10/ 0/	108 87	413 44	40.36	101.34
/echiena lachnaniha	68 35	20.06	122 22	01 92	49.73	107.43
ennisetum mezienum	01 39	52 18	37 43	41 13	105 03	33 1/
herreda Irlandra	47.09	21 37	49.49	48.28	53 00	109 U -
niona cutana	15 97	19 55	27 73	211 52	20 95	28 24
ther Personial grantes	6 60	21 20	9 70	28 09	4 80	
nnual grasses	0 70	0.00	2 80	0 20	0 00	8.91
edges	1.57	0 10	1.70	1 23	0 80	6 01
IN F						
ed ro	36 46	20.21	35 97	32.41	20 81	24 23
envisetum straimeum	100.83	129 73	168 95	221 59	108 00	138.64
racheara bederarithe	ND 38	75 04	56.38	67 08	79 75	112.9
envisetum mezianum	36 02	57.95	105 62	45.41	21.60	128 7
hemeria Intendra	87.89	43 27	62 99	50 32	54.98	70.14
ntonia mitans	16.66	18.40	18 16	19-41	14 78	23 2
Eler Perenniel grassos	5 55	30.60	0 00	14.55	69 40	0 0
Indiana Company	0 20	1.00	0 00	1.15	0.00	5 0
edges	0 78	0 50	E 18	0.98	0.63	6 7:
orbe	33 12	50.17	39 86	46.96	50 03	68 21
envicetum ali antimeum	165 52	123 77	200 45	152 58	161.99	117 2
rechiene lechnenithe	103 34	74.54	205 01	172 21	45 93	288.7
envisetum mezianum	63 70	75 04	70 19	J1 83	69.98	67.4
harranda triandra	120 59	69.31	43.79	118 99	84 12	95 7
informal mutanal	18,68	14.88	9 17	20.42	20 95	35 8
ther Perennual grassing	21.70	18.30	11.31	13 06	19 23	20.54
ADDRESS OF ADDRESS	2.15	0 00	0.00	1.04	0.40	3 10
edaes	0.23	0.43	1 20	1 07	0 00	10 9
W						
nrine.	40.01	26.17	43 07	40.04	25 37	38 8
CONSIGNATI STUDIORIANI	110.65	49.60	108 09	82.94	46.89	178.4
achiana Iarbhanfha	91 97	124 25	127 98	133 93	185 71	182 3
Prive Stellar (TR: (1800.07)	103 59	62.48	98.71	72 43	P4 27	63.5
hermedie Istantika	40.75	61 72	85 18	42 28	99.76	28.6
niona outana	25.19	18.30	19.18	30 18	26 22	28.1.
then Prevention of Asses	0.00	17 03	31 50	0 00	39 70	1.8
CINER CRAFES	3 70	0 69	0 70	1.15	19.20	3.7
odges	0 35	0 60	1.35	0 /5	0.98	5 0
nrh-s	70 52	21.91	112 21	144 76	94 93	78.1
And Scium stratements	82 /9	90.90	129 18	141.78	94 53	130.3
and June in the Part doubted	79.46	97 75	73.83	123 11	122.18	187.4
Incontract and interest	65 11	55 10	30 42	59 66	28 01	101.6
were the set of the set of the set	11 20	01 81	15 33	55.49	66 63	31 0
ningana maddata	14.01	9.02	14.52	24 27	21 97	38.3
namen and a state of the second state.	22 90	16 00	0 00	10.60	0.00	14.8
The second second	B 10	0.00	0 00	0 50	0.00	4.8
A series, Ra ta made a	0.40	0.50	0.00	0.76	0.60	1.3





non-grazed treatment Figure 4.5 Rainfall and aboveground standing biomass in joint cattle and wild herbivores treatment and in



Sampling dates

4

4.4 Aboveground litter

Table 4.6 presents mean seasonal aboveground amounts of litter in each treatment Average amounts of litter were observed to be consistently high in the dry than in wet season in all treatments. This observation concurs with that of Bouton et al. (1968) where peak values of litter were reported in the dry season. Etaya and Kunyamerio (2001) observed towest aboveground litter amounts to occur during rainfall peaks. In the present study, there were significant differences (P<0.05) between the wet and dry season aboveground litter amounts in treatments C, W, MW and O (Table 4.6). In both wet and dry season, mean aboveground litter in C, WC, MWC and MW treatments were similar but differed significantly (P<0.05) with W and O (treatments. This is probably due to accumulated moribund aboveground herbaceous layer components and low decomposition rates.

Ball of al (1981) reported more than two fold increase in litter between the second and eighth year on ungrazed unburned sites. Green and Kauffman (1995) reported that aboveground litter in ungrazed sites was twice as much as in grazed sites. The high aboveground litter in ungrazed ecosystems can be largely attributed to low organic matter decomposition rates. Heitschmidt et al. (1982) reported relatively slower rate of disappearance of standing dead biomass in ungrazed pastures. Litter accumulation is generally associated with low soil temporature, improved soil moisture regimes, and subdued light availability for seedlings and individual plant species. Litter accumulation may also result in nutrients immobilised in litter pool (Green and Kauffman, 1995).

Decomposition rate is influenced by moisture, temperature and chemical composition of the littler (Mullos, 1999). Shariff et al. (1994) reported higher decomposition rates in moderately grazed than in long term ungrazed pastures of North Dakota. These reports imply that the rate

of aboveground organic matter decomposition in the present study could have been higher in the wet season in grazed than in the ungrazed pastures. This could have contributed to lower litter amounts observed in the wet than in the dry season in all treatments in the study

Treatment	Wet seeses gm ²	Dry Semon gm
C	66 9+5 8**	98 418 74
WC	68.1±5.5*	73 918 7=1
MWC .	61 3±5 9*	77.218 0**
W	79 7±5.0×	134 218 /24
MW .	52 8±5 7#	90.7±8.7**
0	95 1±5 8×2	120.9±8.5×1

Table 4.6 Seaught) mean aboveground Migs contents (in,	treatments
---	--	-----	------------

Location & means when the second is being to the same ordered and different impressing manifers in the same row show we we will differences

Begon et al 1990 profiled wet and dry season patterns of dung decomposition in grazed pastures. They noted that during the rains, the area becomes alive with dung beetles a few minutes after elephant dung is deposited on the ground. In the dry season, dung deposited had only lew colonies and activities of the beetle declined as the dung dried out. Thus, generally, decomposition is presumed to be higher in grazed than in ungrazed pastures and in wet than in dry season. This suggests that both transient and resident herbivores suppress accumulation of aboveground litter. During wet season, grazed pastures grow very rapidly resulting in build up of standing biomass but simultaneously, aboveground litter declines rapidly from the pastures. In the dry season, standing biomass decline as aboveground litter increases

4.4.1 Relationships between aboveground litter and productivity

The linear regression analysis between aboveground primary productivity and aboveground litter accumulation revealed negative relationships in all treatments. The data showed that strong negative relationships existed between herbaceous layer productivity and litter amounts in O ($r^{2}a$ -0.71, Pr0.0044 - Figure 4.6a). This suggests that pastures with high litter accumulation are likely to exhibit lower rates of herbaceous layer productivity hence litter accumulation affects the rates of herbaceous layer productivity.



й.

Figure 4.6 a-d Effects of aboveground litter on herbaceous layer primary productivity in unutilised pastures (control) (a), and pastures utilised by cattle (b), wild herbivores with mage herbivores (c) and wild herbivores without mage herbivores (d)

4.5 Utilisation by large herblyones

Table 4.7 Mean daily herbage biomase utilization (1.98 gm⁻² day⁻¹) by large herbivores in different tradmaster and eases

Treatment	Wel segan	Dry season	-
C	1 32:0.59	1 55±0 47	
WC	0 81±0 43	1 32+0.07	
MWC	0.77±0 33	1.51±0 15	
W	0.64+0.25	1 28±0 41	
MW	0 97 +0 62	1 70±0 04	_

Table 4.7 presents mean daily herbage utilisation by large herbivores in different treatments. Utilisation by large herbivores was lower in the well than in the dry season in all treatments. Treatments C and MW had the highest daily herbage biomass utilisation in the wet and dry season respectively while W had the lowest in both seasons. On the overall, approximately 53%, 42%, 39%, 24% and 75% of wet season's net primary production was ublised by large herbivores in C, WC, MWC, W and MW treatments respectively. Painter and Detting (1981) reviewed that herbivory removes 10-50% of annual ANPP, however, some studies conducted in the East African region reported that 15-90% of annual ANPP (McNaughton, 1985) or 85% standing crop (McNaughton 1976) could be used up by large herbivores. Wilms et al. (1996) reported a loss of more than 50% of available herbage to non-livestock species, decomposition or to littor pool.

4.5.1 Tussock utilisation

Herbage biomass utilised by large herbivores negatively correlated with stubble biomass ($F_{(1,10)}=10.78$, p=0.0082, R²=0.52) and positively correlated to the number of tussocks utilised ($F_{(1,10)}=6.69$, p=0.0271, R²-0.40). The stubble biomass negatively correlated with the proportions of tussocks utilised by large herbivores per unit area (Figure 4.7). These results suggest that, to a large extent, the number of tussocks utilised by herbivores could be used to estimate the amount of horbage removed by large herbivores.

Table 4.8 presents the total and grazed number of tussocks, mean tussock height and tussock stubble height in different treatments. Mean total number of tussocks per unit area (tussock density) was highest in MWC treatment (21.4 L1.0) and lowest in W treatment (15.5±0.8). Mean number of tussocks utilised were highest in WC (15.8±1.0) and lowest in W treatment (4.2±0.4). Treatment MWC had the lowest mean stubble height while the highest was in W treatment.



Figure 4.7 Relationship between proportions of tussocks utilised by large herbivores and standing biomass in grazed pestures

Table 4.8 Mean total number of grazed tussoche.	(se 7), mean taxaoch height and mean tuseoch stubbi	•
height in different treatments		

Treatments	Total number of tuesocks m ²	Number of grazed tussocks m ²	% lussock ubhabon	Total tuasock height (cm)	Stubble height (cm)
C	187(11)	13.9 (1.1)	74 3 (5 9)	53.0 (2.0)	138(10)
WC	20 9 (1.1)	15.8 (1 0)	75 6 (5 0)	63 4 (2 9)	15.3 (1.1)
MWC	21.4 (1.0)	150(1.1)	70.1 (4.9)	50.2(2.3)	10 5(0 8)
W	15 5 (0.8)	4 2 (0 4)	27 1 (3 9)	64 4(1 6)	18 7(1.1)
MM	16 7 (0 8)	70(07)	41 9 (4 5)	65 3(1 6)	15 1(0 9)
0	18.0 (1.1)			67.7 (2.5)	

Institute of press finances plantant server in the mean

4.5.2 Preference of dominant species

Table 4.9 presents relative proportions (%) of tussocks of key perennial grasses utilized. *Ponnisatum stramineum* was most preferred in both C (22%) and WC (23%), Themeda triandra preference ranked second in these treatments. In MWC treatment, Lintonia nutans was the most preferred (16%) while Pennisetum stramineum ranked second, others included Brachiaria lachnantha and Themeda triandria, which showed similar preference (Table 4.8). In W the most preferred grass species Pennisetum stramineum (7.1%) followed by Themeda triandra (6.5%). Pennisetum mezianum and Lintonia nutans had equal preference in this treatment. In MW Brachiaria tachnantha (11%) was the highly preferred dominant grass followed by Themeda triandria (10%). The preference of grass species differed with groups of herbivores utilising the pastures. However, in general Pennisetum stramineum received relatively higher preference in most treatments except in MWC and MW where Lintonia nutans and Brachlaria lechnarithal

were respectively relatively more preferred

Treatment	Pennselum	Brachana	Permiselum	Themeda	Lintonia nutaria	
	suffrager have a second	hachmanithe a	(718.2007)(71	train wheth		
	%	<u>%</u>		5	*	
С	21.9	12.8	10 2	20.3	80	
WC	23.4	15.3	10 5	15.79	10 0	
MWC	15.4	14.95	93	14.95	18.18	
W	7.1	43	4.5	6.45	45	
MW .	6.6	11.4	84	9.6	5.99	

number of grazed bissocia per total bussocia

4.5.3 Grazing intensity on dominant species

Table 4.10 The mean ungrazed heights and respective stabble heights (cm) of key perennial grasses in each treatment

Troalment	Persymmetry stranswingty		Brachmen Lachmanika		Pararanokan marzanajim		1 hemeda Inaridita		Lintonia nutans	
	Unhgi	Stable	uningi	Slubble	uningi	Skibble	uningi	Shibble	uningi	Stubble
C	46 0	21.1	437	10.5	31.7	21.0	46 3	76	35.6	8.4
WC	51.3	23 5	50.0	9.7	42.4	17.1	46 9	10.1	44 9	96
MWC	45.3	19.6	38.9	90	41.2	11.7	37 6	87	39.8	8.5
W	50.1	23.1	53.2	166	32 9	25 3	46.2	13.4	47.1	17.9
MW	45.3	23 2	536	14.4	45.7	17.2	59.9	12.1	52 1	12.1

Unlight mean ungrazed height and Stubble-mean stubble height as indicator of grazing intensity.

Table 4.10 presents mean ungrazed and stubble heights for key perennial grasses in different treatments. From their mean stubble heights, *Thomeda triandra, Brachiaria lachnantha* and *Linkowa nutans* received heaviest grazing intensity in all treatments than *Perinsetum strammourn* and *Perinsetum mezianum* in all the herbivore treatments. This could be due to their general vertical stom characteristics, which are relatively softer and occur in clumps. This enables herbivores to remove more per bite and hence, a lowest net stubble height. On the other hand, in the case of *Perinisetum straminourn* and P. *mezianum*, the stems are much lougher and mostly occur singly aboveground. Therefore, herbivores only utilize the upper leafy and soft stem parts leaving the rest of the stems as stubble. These species traits together with herbivore muzzle sizes, can to some extent explain salient differences in intensity of utilisation among grass species.

4.6 Management Implications

The data indicated that utilisation of pastures by both cattle and wild herbivores maintain intermediate herbaceous layer productivity and standing blomasa" This provides a better direction for ecosystem management in the future than extreme productivity observed in pastures separately utilised by wild terbivores or cattle. This allows for diversity of native and domestic biodiversity coexistence at the crucial time when native blodiversity are threatened with habitat loss in the unprotected savanna ecosystems.

Large and extensive pastures need to be planned in such a way that some sectors are made available for separate wild herbivore utilisation while others for joint utilisation with domestic livestock but none should totally exclude large herbivores. In this study, seasonal herbaceous layer standing biomass and productivity were not highest in herbivore exclusion pastures. The only parameters that had the highest values in such pastures were litter amounts and forbs proportions. The patterns revealed by proportions of key perennial grasses imply that grasses need to be monitored periodically in grasslands inhabited by a diversity of large herbivores, so that detection of over utilisation of particular types of grasses can proactively stimulate management responses. This can also prompt timely decision for responses that lacilitate application of rest, burning and reseeding management practices.

In making management decisions, these results indicate that protected areas should be maintained in their contemporary form as in their current state they could maintain higher aboveground production. But if need be, there is no evidence that controlled cattle utilisation could damage their herbaceous layer resources. However, unprotected areas need to be encouraged to accommodate wild herbivores, this is because joint utilisation of pasture is more beneficial to production of herbaceous layer vegetation resources. Pastures destined for utilisation by cattle alone should be encouraged only under very restricted and well defined management plan. This should be so as long as the management seasonally monitors proportions of forbs and grasses in such pastures. In areas where cattle are the dominant grazer, it would be practical to accommodate wild herbivores while allowing for long term monitoring of the system and documenting the dynamics of the herb layer productivity and cover. This kind of monitoring may also provide necessary information on how protected areas may be managed for posterity.

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 Conclusions and Recommendations

5.1 Conclusions

- 1 The results disapprove the study hypothesis that large herbivores do not have measurable effects on seasonal herbaceous layer standing biomass. The evidence shows that separately, mega herbivores (mostly elephants) and cattle had greater effects than other large mammalian wild herbivores in reducing the potential amounts of herbaceous layer standing biomass in grazed ecosystems. Utilisation of pastures by other large mammalian wild herbivores in absence of cattle and mega herbivores resulted in highest standing biomass and productivity in the growing season. Joint grazing by wild herbivores and cattle did not reduce herbage-standing biomass as was done by cattle alone grazing. Long term exclusion of large herbivores from formerly grazed lands reduced herbaceous layer productive capacity due to change in functional groups and litter accumulation.
- Large herbivore grazing influenced proportions of biomass contributed by functional groups to the total standing biomass. Presence of large herbivores tended to favour higher grass proportions than forbs as their absence reverse this trend. Cattle presence promoted relatively higher grass proportions than wild herbivores did when mega herbivores were prosont. Long term exclusion of large herbivores promoted increased domination of dicotytedonous species and negatively affected the standing biomass and productivity of monocotytedonous species. Pastures exclosed from large herbivore utilisation for eight years changed such that proportions of dicotytedonous plants increased in herbicoeous layer standing biomass.
- 3 Biomass consumed by large herbivores did not show strong correlation with stubble biomass during the growing period. However, in the dry season there was strong

50

negative relationship between the proportions of lussocks utilised per unit area and the stubble biomass and or herbaceous layer biomass consumed by large herbivores.

5.2 Recommendations

Introduction

The short duration cattle grazing as applied in this study provided very moderate yet uniform utilisation that is very distinct from those of pastoral areas whose ecological status are much different. However, short duration cattle grazing in the present study may be similar to those of most commercial ranches hosting both wild herbivores and cattle. The recommendations of this study are therefore, more applicable under moderate grazing management by cattle and very light by large mammakan wild herbivores. Further research is necessary for more explicit grazing management.

- 1 As a management strategy, grazed lands should not be left ungrazed for longer periods (more than eight years) if the management intends to improve herbaceous layer productivity Short-term rest should be appropriate but rotation between wild herbivores and cattle combinations would be preferred in a patch-designed pasture with sectors accommodating both joint and wild herbivore alone pastures.
- 2 Management in unprotocted areas with cattle should consider tolerating large wild herbivores or consider their gradual introduction in their management plan. This is because other than wild herbivores helping to reduce the adverse effects measurable on herbage production due to moderate cattle grazing, they will also open up other avenues for operators diversification of enterprises -ecotourism, game cropping, and beauty in general.
- 3 There is need for a more detailed invostigation in the Kenya Long-term Exclosure Experiment (KLEE) plots for a detailed analysis of the low productivity in MW treatment

captured by the movable cage method in this study. The study showed that MW had the second highest seasonal standing biomass.

- 4 Further work needs to be carried out for better understanding of litter disappearance in these experimental plots. The scientists and managers need to understand the effects of litter disappearance under long-term grazing and long-term herbivore exclusion. There is also need to know the sequential effect of time and long-term seasonality of excluding large herbivores on herbaceous layer production
- 5. This experimental study, which involved wild horbivores and one type of domestic livestock, has provided interesting results regarding separate and combined effects of these herbivores on herbaceous layer resources. However, more studies are required to analyse these effects in protected areas; national parks with and without mega herbivores, semi-protected areas-national reserves with domestic livestock (with and without mega-herbivores), wildlife corridors with domestic stock (with and without megaherbivores), commercial ranches with situations similar to treatments in the present study in varied soil types. It would also be of ecological use if KLEE would consider integration of other domestic stock interactions with wild herbivores.

REFERENCES

- Abrams, M.D., A.K. Knapp, and C.L. Hulbert. 1986. A ten-year record of aboveground biomass in a Kansas tall grass prairie: effects of fire and topographic position. *American Journal of Botany* 73, 1509-1515.
- Ball, M J. III, D H. Hunter and B F. Swindel. 1981. Understorey biomass response to microsite and age of bedded stash pine plantations. *Journal of Range Management* 34: 38-42.
- Beaulieu, J., G. Gauthier and L. Rochelort, 1996. The growth response of graminoid plants to goose grazing in a High Arctic environment. *Journal of Ecology* 84: 905-914
- Begon, M., J.L. Harper and C.R. Townsend. 1990. Ecology-Individuals, Populations and Communities. Blackwell Scientific Publications, London
- Belsky A. J., R.G. Amundson, J.M. Duxbury, S.J. Riha, A.R. Ak and S.M. Mwonga 1989. The effects of trees on the physical, chemical, and biological environments in a semi and savanna in Kenya. Journal of Applied Ecology 26, 1005-1024.
- Belsky, A. J. 1992. Effects of grazing, competition, disturbance and fire on species composition and diversity in grassland communities. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 3: 187-200
- Bolsky, A J. 1966. Does herbivory benefit plants? A review of the evidence. American Naturalist 127 870 870-892
- Belsky, A J. 1987. The effects of grazing: confounding of ecosystem, community and organism scales. American Naturalist 129 777-783.
- Belsky, A.J., W.P. Carson, J.C.L. Ensen, and G.A. Fox. 1993. Overcompensation by plants herbivore optimisation or red herring? *Evol. Ecol.* 7:109-121.
- Biondini, M.E., B.D. Pattonand and P.E. Nyren 1998 Grazing intensity and ecosystem processes in a northern mixed-grass practic, U.S.A. Ecol. Appl. 8 469 479.

- Bourn, D and R. Blench. 1999. Can Livestock and Wildlife Co exist? An Interdisciplinary Approach Livestock, Wildlife and People in the Semi Arid Rangeland of Eastern Africa Overseas Development Institute London
- Bouton, T.W., L.L. Tieszen and S.K. Imbamba. 1988. Biomass dynamics of grassland vegetation in Kenya. Alt. J. Ecol. 26: 89-101.
- Brown, B J and T.F.H. Allen. 1989. The importance of scale in evaluating herbivory impact. Oikos 54:189-194
- Cargill, S.M. and R.L. Jeffereies. 1984. The effects of grazing by lesser snow geese on the vegetation of sub-arctic sall marsh. J. Appl. Ecol. 21 669-686
- Chapin, III F S , A J Bloom, C B Field and R. H. Warring, 1987. Plant responses to multiple environmental responses, Biosci 37:49-57.
- Chew R M 1974. Consumers as regulators of ecosystems. An alternative to energetics J. Sci 353-370
- Clary, W.P. and D.A. Jameson. 1981. Herbage production following tree and shrub removal in the Pinyon-Jumper type of Anzona. *Journal of Range Management* 34(2) 109-113.
- Cox, G W and J M Waithaka 1989 Estimating aboveground net production and grazing harvest by wildlife on tropical grassland range. Oikos 54: 60-66.

Crawley, M.J. 1987. Benevolent herbivores? Trands Ecol. Evol. 2, 167-8.

- Darkoh, M.B.K. 1992. Flanning arid lands development in Africa. Some reflections from ringside. In Hjort, A. (ed.), Security in African drylands. Research, development and policy. Uppsala University, Sweden
- de Mozancourt, C., M. Loreau and L. Abbadie. 1998. Grazing optimisation and nutrient cycling. Wijen does lierbivores enhance plant production? Ecology 79 2242-2252.

Deshinukh, I. 1986. Primary production of a grassland in Nairobi National Park J. appl. Ecol.

23 115-123

- Deshmukh, I K and M N. Baig. 1983. The significance of grass mortality in the estimation of primary production in African grassilands. *Afr. J. Ecol.* 21: 19-23.
- Dublin, H T. 1995 Vegetation dynamics in Serengeti-Mara Ecosystem. The role of elephants, fire and other factors. In Sinclair A R E. and Peter Arcese (eds) Serengeti: Serengeti: II Dynamics, Management, and Conservation of an Ecosystem, University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London pp 71-90.
- Dyer, M.L., D.L. DeAngelis and W.M. Post 1986. A model of herbivore feedback on plant productivity. *Math. Biosci.* 79 171-184
- Ekaya, W.N. and J.I. Kinyamario. 2001. Production and decomposition of litter in an arid rangeland of Kenya. African Journal of Range & Forage Science 18, 125-129.
- Ekaya, W.N., J.I. Kinyamano and C.N. Karue. 2001 Abiotic and herbačeous vegetational characteristics of an and rangeland in Konya. *African Journal of Range & Forage Science* 18, 117-124
- Farrisworth K.D., S. Focardi and J.A. Beecham. 2002. Grassland-herbivore interactions. How do grazers coexist? American naturalist 159(1):25-39
- Georgiadis, N.J., R.W. Ruess, S.J. McNaughton and D. Western. 1989. Ecological conditions that determine when grazing stimulates grass production. Oecologia 81. 316-22
- Gichohi, H., E. Mwangi and C. Gakahu. 1996. Savanna ecosystems. Pp 273-298 in East African ecosystems and their conservation, T.M. McClanahan and T.P. Young (eds). Oxford University Press, New York...
- Groen D.M. and Kaufiman, J.B. 1995. Succession and livestock grazing in a North-Eastern Oregon riparian system. *Journal of Range Management* 48 307-313
- Gutman, M. Z. Holzer, H. Baram, I. Noy mer N.G. Seligman 1999. Heavy slocking and earlyseason determent of grazing on Mediterranean-type grassland. *Journal of Range Management* 52, 590-599.

- Harcombe, P.A., G.N. Cameron and E.G. Glumac. 1993 Above ground net primary productivity in adjacent grassland and woodland on the coastal prairie of Texas, USA. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 4:521-530
- Heady, H.F. and D.R. Child. 1994. Rangeland ocology and management. Westview Press, Boulder
- Hertschmidt, R.K., D.L. Price, R.A. Gordon and J.R. Frasure. 1982. Short duration grazing at Toxas experimental ranch. effects on aboveground net primary production and seasonal growth dynamics. *Journal of Range Management* 35(3) 367-372.
- Hendrix, S.D., and E.J. Trapp. 1989. Floral herbivory in Pastinaca satival do compensatory responses offset reductions in fitness? Evolution 43, 891-5
- Hik, D.S. and R.L. Jeffenes. 1990. Increases in the above ground primary productions of a sall marsh furage grass: a test of the predictions of the herbivore-optimization model. J. Ecol. 51, 180-195
- Hilbert, D.W., D.M. Swift, J.K. Detling, and M.I. Dyer. 1981. Relative growth rales and the grazing optimisation hypothesis. *Oecologia* 51:14-18
- Holland, E.A., W.J. Parton, J.K. Detling and D.L. Cappock. 1992. Physiological responses of plant populations to herbivory and their consequences for ecosystem nutrient flow American Naturalist 140 685-706
- Hopcraft, D 1990. Wildlife land use at the Afhi River, Kenya. Pp. 332-340. In The improvement of tropical and subtropical rangelands. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- Kanuki, G.K., T. Tadınyar and K.O. Farah. 1996. Socio-economic impacts of small holder irrigation schemes among the Borana nomads of Isiolo districts, Kenya. The African Pastoral Forum Working Paper Sories No 12 PINEP, Univ. of Nairobi, Kenya
- Kauffman, J.B., W.C. Krueger and V. Vavra. 1983a. Impacts of cattle on stream banks in North Eastern Oregon. Journal of Range Management 36 (6) 683-685.

ġ,

Kauffman, J.B., W.C. Krueger and V. Vavra. 1983b. Effects of late season cattle grazing on repartan plant communities. *Journal of Range Management* 38 (6) 685-690

- Kinyamano, J.I. 1987. Primary productivity in relation to environmental variables of semi-arid grassland ecosystem in Kenya. PhD thesis, Univ. of Nairobi, Nairobi
- Kinyamano, J.I. and J.N.M. Macharia. 1992. Aboveground standing crop, protein content and dry matter digestability of a tropical grassland range in the Nairobi National Park, Kenya. *Alt. J. Ecol.* 30:33-41.
- Kinyua, D. 1996, Microenvironmental influences of Acacia etbaica and Acacia tortilis on herbaceous layer production in Mukogondo, rangeland, Laikipia District. MSc Thesis, University of Nairobi, Nairobi, Kenya
- Kinyua, PI D and J T Njoka 2001 Animal exchange ratios: an alternative point of view Afr J. Ecology 39: 59-64
- Klingman, D.L., S.R. Miles, and G.O. Mctt. 1943. The cage method for determining consumption and yield of pasture herbage. *Journal of the American Society of Agronomy* 35,739-746.
- Krauler, U.P. and J.P. Workman. 1994. Costs of overstocking on cattle and wildlife ranches in Zimbabwe vol. 11(3) Pp.237-248. Ecological Economics, USA.
- Leriche, H., X. LeRoux, J. Gignoux, A. Tuzet, H. Fritz, L. Abbadie and M. Loreau. 2001. Which functional processes control the short term effect of grazing on net primary production in grasslands? Oecologia 129.114-124.
- Lieth, H. and R.H. Whittaker (eds). 1975. Primary productivity of the Biosphere. Spring Verlag, New York, Heidelberg, Berlin
- Maddock, L. 1979. The migration and grazing succession. In Sorengeli Dynamics of an Ecosystem A.R.E. Sinclair and M. Notton Griffitha (eds) Chicago University Press, Chicago. Pp 104-129

- Macharia, J.N.M. 1981. Bioproductivity in relation to photosynthesis in four grassland ecosystems in Kenya. M.Sc. thesis, Univ. of Nairobi, Nairobi
- Maschinski, J. 2001. Impacts of ungulate herbivores on a rare willow at the southern edge of its range. *Biological Conservation* 101 (2001) 119-130
- McNaughton, S.J. 1976. Serengeti migratory wildebeest facilitation of energy flow by grazing. Science 191: 92-94
- McNaughton, S J. 1979a. Grazing as an optimisation process. grass ungulate relationships in the Serenget. American Naturalist. 113.691-703
- McNaughton, S J. 1979b. Grassland-herbivore dynamics. In: Serenget: Dynamics of an Ecosystem A.R.E. Sinclair and M. Norton Griffiths (eds) Chicago University Press, Chicago
- McNaughton, S.J. 1983. Plant adaptation in an ecosystem context: effects of defoliation, nitrogen and water on growth of an African C4 sedge. Ecology 64:307-318
- McNaughlon, S J. 1985. Ecology of a grazing ecosystem. The Serengeti. Ecol. Monogr 55: 259-294
- McNaughlon, S J., D G Milchulmas and D A. Frank. 1996. How can net productivity be measured in grazing ecosystems? *Ecology* 77 (3), 974-977

Milner, C. and R.E. Hughes. 1970. Methods of the Measurement of the Primary Production of Grasslands. IBP Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford and Edinburg.

Mordelet P and Meanaul J C. 1995 Influence of trees on aboveground production dynamics of grasses in a humid savanna. Journal of Vegetation Science 6, 223-228

Mulles, M.C.Jr. 1999. Ecology concepts and applications. Mcgraw-Hill, Mexico City

....

Morns, C.D., J.F. Derry and M.B. Hardy 1999. Effect of cattle and sheep grazing on the

structure of Highland Sourveld swards in South Africa. Topical Grasslands 33,111-121.
- Okello, B D. 1996. Utilisation of above-ground net primary production by herbivores in Mukogodo rangelands, Laikipla. M Sc. thesis Univ. of Nairobi, Nairobi.
- Osterheid, M. and S.J. McNaughton. 1988. Intraspecific variation in the response of Themeda Intendra to detoliation. The effects of the time of recovery and growth rates on companisatory growth. Oscologia 77 550-6
- Owaga, M.L.A. 1980. Primary production and herbage utilisation by herbivores in Kaputei plains, Kenya. *Ali. J. Ecol.* 18 1-5.
- Painter, E.L. and J.K. Detling 1981. Effects of photosynthesis on net photosynthesis and regrowth of western wheat grass. *Journal of Range Management* 34, 68-71.
- Pandey, C B and J S Singh 1992 Rainfall and grazing effects on net primary production in a tropical savanna, India. Ecology 73: 2007-2021
- Phillips, R.L., M.J. Trica, W.C. Leininger and W.P. Clary. 1999. Catile use affects forage quality in a montane riparian ecosystem. *Journal of Range Management* 52:283-289
- Prall and Gwynne 1977 Rangeland management and ecology in East African Robert E Krieger Publishing co. Humington, New York, U.S.A
- Puetimann, KJ and M.R. Saunders. 2001. Patterns of growth compensation in eastern white pine (Pinus strobus L.): the influence of herbivory intensity and competitive environments Oncologia. 129(3): 376-384
- Rone Van der Wal, M. Egas, V. Van Der Adanaan and J. Bakker. 2000. Effects of resource competition and herbivory on plant performance along a natural productivity gradient Journal of Ecology 88–317-330.
- Roberts, M.J., S.P. Long, L.L. Tieszen and C.L. Beadle. 1993. Measurement of plant biomass and net primary production of herbaceous vegetation. Pp1-21 in: Photosynthesis and production in a changing environment A field and Jaboratory manual. Hall D.O., Scurlock

JMO, Bolhar-Nordenkampl H R , Leegood R.C and Long S P. (eds). Chapman and Hall, UK

- Rusch, G.M. and M. Oesterheld, 1997. Relationship between productivity and species and functional group diversity in grazed and non grazed pampas grassland. Oikos 78:431-436
- Sala, O. E., M.E. Biondini and W.K. Lauenroth 1988. Bias in estimates in primary production: an analytical solution. *Ecological Modelling* 44 43-55.
- Sala O , VA Deregibus , T Schlichter and H Alippe. 1981. Productivity dynamics of a native temperate grassland in Argentina. Journal of Range Management 34 (1): 48-51
- Sala, O.E., M. Osterheid, R.J.C. Leon and A. Sonano. 1986. Grazing effects upon plant community structure in sub-humid grasslands of Argentina. Vegetatio 67:27-36
- San Jose, J J. and Y E. Medina 1976, Organic matter production in the Trachypogon savanna at Calabozo, Venzuela. Tropical Ecology 17.113-124
- Sharill, A.R., M.E.Biondini, and C. E. Grygiel. 1994. Grazing intensity effects on litter decomposition and sull nitrogen mineralization. *Journal of Range Management* 47 444-449.
- Sims, PL, J S. Singh and W K. Lauenroth. (1978). The structure and function of len wetern North American grasslands I. Abiotic and vegetational characteristics. *Journal of Ecology* 66: 251-285
- Sims, P.L. and J.S. Singh. 1978a. The structure and function of ten western North American grasslands. II. Intra seasonal dynamics in primary producer compartments. *Journal of Ecology* 66: 547-572
- Sims, PL and J.S. Singh. 1978b. The structure and function of ten Western North American grasslands. III. Net primary production, turnover and efficiencies of energy capture and water use. Journal of Ecology 66 573-597.

60

- Sinclair, A.R.E. 1995. Equilibria in plant-herbivore. In Sinclair A.R.E. and Peter Arcese (eds) Serengeti: Serengeti II Dynamics, Management, and Conservation of an Ecosystem, University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London pp 91-113
- Strugnell, and C.D. Pigot 1978. Biomass, shoot production and grazing of two grasslands in the Ruwenzori National Park, Uganda, J. Ecol. 66:73-97.
- Swift, D.M., M.B. Coughenour and M. Atsedu. 1996. And and semi-and ecosystems Pp 243-270 in: East Atrican ecosystems and their conservation, T.M. McClanahan and T.P. Young (eds). Oxford University Press, New York
- Voetin M.M. and H.H.T. Prins. 1999. Resource partitioning between sympatric wild and domestic in the Tarangire region of Tanzania. Oecologia 120, 287-294
- Weber, G.E and F. Jeltsch. 2000. Long-term impacts of investock herbivory on herbaceous and woody vegetation in semiarid savannas. Basic and Applied Ecology 1:1, 13-23
- Worger, M.J.A. 1977. Effects of game and domestic liveslock on vegetation in East and Southern Africa. Pp149-159 in *Handbook of vegetation science*. Vol 13. Krause W. (ed) W. Junk, The Hague.
- Western, D.C. 1996 Preface Pp v-vi in East African ecosystems and their conservation, T.M. McClanahan and T.P. Young (eds). Oxford University Press, New York
- Whyte, R.J. and W. Cain 1981. Wildlife habitat on grazed or ungrazed small pond shorelines in South Texas. Journal of Range management 34(1) 64-68
- Williamson, S.C., J.K. Detling, J.L. Dodd, and M.I. Dyer. 1989. Experimental evaluation of the grazing optimisation hypothesis. *Journal of Range Management* 42: 149-152.
- Woldu, Z. and M.A.M. Saleem. 2000. Grazing induced biodiversity in the highland ecozone of East Africa. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 79, 43-52

- Young, T.P. B. Okallo, D. Kinyua and T. Palmar, 1998. KLEE: a long-term multi-species herbivore exclusion experiment in Laikupia, Kenya. Akican Journal of Range and Forage Science 14 92-104 (1998)
- Young, T.P. N. Patndge and A. Macrae. 1995. Long-term glades in Acadia bushland and their effects in Laikiple, Kenya. *Ecological Applications* 5(1): 97-108.

KABETE LIBRARY

jų,